Promoting Patient Engagement during Hospitalization for Acute Myocardial Infarction Holly E. Rector Charlottesville, Virginia

Bachelor of Science in Nursing, Cedarville University, 2011 Master of Science in Nursing, University of Virginia, 2017

A Scholarly Practice Project presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Nursing Practice

School of Nursing

University of Virginia May, 2018

(Regina DeGennaro, DNP, CNS, RN, AOCN, CNL)

(Beth Quatrara, DNP, RN, CMSRN, ACNS-BC)

(Virginia Rovnyak, PhD)

(Kathryn Ward, DNP, RN, PHCNS-BC)

(John Dent, MD)

Abstract

Background: Higher levels of patient engagement are associated with improved patient outcomes, but patient engagement is rarely studied in acute cardiology populations. Promotion of patient engagement during hospitalization after acute myocardial infarction (AMI) may play a role in improving cardiac rehabilitation (CR) participation.

Objective: The purpose of this study was to examine the feasibility of utilizing a CR-specific question prompt sheet (QPS) to promote patient engagement during hospitalization for inpatients diagnosed with AMI.

Methods: A descriptive correlation study was conducted over eight weeks on two cardiovascular units at an academic medical center. A convenience sample of 32 (N) inpatient adults with AMI and 4 (N) physicians participated. Patients received a CR-specific QPS with encouragement to ask questions, supplemented by education for physicians and nurses. Patient engagement was measured by observed question-asking behavior and Patient Involvement Questionnaire (PIQ). **Results:** Twenty of the 32 patients asked questions during rounds with a median of one question (IQR 2) for the length of stay. Although question-asking behavior and PIQ scores were not found to be statistically different in those intending to attend CR compared to those who were not, patients who expressed positive intention, tended to have higher PIO scores. The majority of patients who received endorsement from physician or clinical nurse endorsed positive intention to attend CR, with relationship between CR nurse endorsement and intention to attend approaching significance (X^2 [1, N=13] =5.318), Exact 2-sided, p=.077). Patients reported the OPS helped them ask questions, but some physicians perceived it increased duration of rounds. Conclusion: Although a CR-specific QPS may be helpful and trends suggest potential to increase patient engagement, further research is needed to determine the feasibility and effectiveness of the QPS in promoting patient engagement for patients hospitalized with AMI.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Background	
Purpose and Research Question	
Literature Review	
Education Literature Review	
Timing of education	11
Methods and topics of education.	11
Role of educator.	
Education outcomes	
Limitations of education literature	14
Summary and gaps in literature.	
Patient Engagement Literature Review	
Instruments	
Outcomes.	
Summary and gaps in patient engagement literature.	
Question Prompt Sheet Literature Review	
Interventions	
Primary outcome for systematic reviews	
Usefulness and feasibility.	

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

Limitations of QPS literature.	
Summary and Gaps in QPS Literature	
Theoretical Framework	
Methods	
Purpose	
Definitions	
Research Design and Setting	
Sample	
Procedures	
Question prompt sheet.	
Physician and nursing education	39
Measures	39
Data collection.	40
Results	43
Nonparticipants vs Participants	44
Demographics	44
Question-Asking Behavior	45
Patient Involvement Questionnaire	45
Cardiac Rehab	46
Endorsement	46

Intention to attend cardiac rehab	5
Patient and Physician Acceptance47	7
Discussion	7
Feasibility of Question Prompt Sheet48	3
Patient Engagement	3
Question-Asking Behavior49	9
Endorsement	1
Limitations	2
Nursing Practice Implications	4
Future Research	5
Products of Scholarly Project	5
Conclusion	5
References	7
Tables	7
Figures	3
Appendix	5
Abstract	5
1. Introduction	7
1.1 Purpose and Research Question	3
2. Methods	8

2.1 Theoretical Framework
2.2 Research Design and Setting
2.2.1 The Interprofessional Team
2.2.2 Interprofessional Rounds
2.3 Sample
2.4 Ethical considerations
2.5 Procedures
2.5.1 Question prompt sheet
2.5.2 Staff education
2.6 Measures
2.7 Data collection
2.7.1 Observations
2.7.2 Questionnaires
2.8 Data Analysis
3. Results
3.1 Nonparticipants vs Participants
3.2 Demographics
3.3 Question-Asking Behavior
3.4 Patient Involvement Questionnaire
3.5 Helpfulness of QPS

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

4. Discussion and Conclusion	
4.1 Discussion	97
4.2 Conclusion	100
4.3 Practice Implications	100
References	102
8	
Figures	115

Promoting Patient Engagement during Hospitalization for Acute Myocardial Infarction

Patient engagement is a fundamental part of patient-centered care and quality improvement in healthcare (Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2017; Institute of Medicine, 2001). Despite endorsement by national healthcare organizations and financial implications related to the Affordable Care Act (Millenson & Macri, 2012), research is limited on interventions to promote patient engagement in acute illness during hospitalization. A recent report on interventions to promote patient engagement in the hospital setting concluded that current intervention strategies aimed at the patient or family (individual-level) are lacking, or, if present, are often not "attuned" to the needs and experience of the patient and family (Maurer, Dardess, Carman, Frazier, & Smeeding, 2012, p. 5). This has resulted in little "concrete, actionable support" for patients and their families to engage (Maurer et al., p 5).

The implications of a poorly engaged patient population may be devastating with increasing evidence that patients with lower levels of engagement are at higher risk for hospitalization and emergency room utilization (Kinney, Lemon, Person, Pagoto, & Saczynski, 2015), as well as increased healthcare costs compared to those who are more engaged (Greene, Hibbard, Sacks, Overton, & Parrotta, 2015; Hibbard, Green & Overton, 2013). Patients with higher levels of engagement are also recognized to have increased adherence to treatment regimens and health-related behaviors (Greene & Hibbard, 2012; Hibbard, Mahoney, Stock, & Tusler, 2007; Mosen et al., 2007; Skolasky, 2008), increased patient satisfaction (Mosen et al., 2007).

Although patient engagement is studied in chronic disease management, (Hibbard, Greene, & Overton, 2013; Kinney et al., 2015; Mosen et al., 2007), this topic is rarely explored in the acute phase of illness such as acute myocardial infarction (AMI) (Arnetz et al., 2010). Research indicates self-management and adoption of secondary and tertiary prevention strategies post AMI, such as cardiac rehabilitation (CR), are essential in preventing adverse outcomes (Smith et al., 2011). As a guideline-directed therapy (Balady et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2011) CR demonstrates numerous benefits including decreased mortality, morbidity, hospitalization, and improved health-related quality of life (Anderson et al., 2014; Dunlay, Pack, Thomas, Killian, & Roger, 2014). Despite these benefits, CR continues to be underutilized with current national participation rates ranging from 23% to 52% (Doll et al., 2015; Dunlay et al., 2014). Promotion of patient engagement during hospitalization may play a role in improving patient outcomes in the AMI population through increasing CR participation.

One way to promote patient engagement is to encourage patients to ask questions. Recognized as a behavior of engaged patients (Mauer et al., 2012), question asking is endorsed by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) as a method to promote patient engagement (AHRQ, 2012; Clancy, 2008). Although some patients are naturally inclined to ask questions, others will not due to fear, not knowing what to ask, or insufficient health literacy thereby requiring additional support (Maurer et al., 2012). Healthcare providers and organizations have a responsibility to provide the opportunities, knowledge, and skills necessary for patients and families to become engaged (Mauer et al., 2012), which may be facilitated through question asking.

In the outpatient setting, and in predominantly oncology populations, providing patients with a list of questions ("question prompt sheet," henceforth "QPS"), demonstrates some success in increasing patient question asking and information sharing from the provider (Sansoni, Grootemaat, & Duncan, 2015). The use of a QPS in promoting patient engagement and participation in CR for patients hospitalized with diagnosis of AMI should be further explored.

Purpose and Research Question

The purpose of this study was to examine the feasibility of utilizing a CR specific QPS to promote patient engagement in interprofessional bedside rounds for inpatients with AMI. This study aimed to answer the following questions:

- Does a CR-specific QPS help patients diagnosed with acute myocardial infarction ask questions about CR and post-MI care?
- Do inpatients diagnosed with AMI who receive a QPS report engagement in their care?
- Is patient engagement related to intention to attend CR post-discharge?
- Is endorsement of CR related to intention attend CR?

Literature Review

In an attempt to understand the potential role of patient engagement during hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction, this review of literature analyzed three different topic areas: patient education in the AMI population, patient engagement in the AMI population, and the effectiveness of question prompt sheets to facilitate patient engagement. These areas are central to the development of this study and shed light on current practices and gaps in care.

Education Literature Review

A review of the literature was conducted on the education practices and information needs of AMI patients from 2000 to 2017 and included database search of CINAHL, PubMed, and Grey literature. Search strategy included the following terms: "patient education", "information needs", "acute coronary syndrome", "myocardial infarction", and "cardiac rehab" with no limits for date or study design. Inclusion criteria included: (a) patient education related to post-MI care or coronary artery disease, and (b) evaluation of patient knowledge, perception, preferences or health behavior as an outcome. Exclusion criteria removed (a) non-English language studies, and (b) pediatric (age \leq 19 years old) populations. Ancestry searches of pertinent review articles were conducted to identify any additional studies. Five studies met criteria, including two systematic reviews (Ghisi, Abdallah, Grace, Thomas, & Oh, 2014; Scott and Thomas, 2003), two qualitative studies with focus groups (Astin, Closs, McLenachan, Hunter, and Priestley, 2008; Decker et al., 2007), and one quasi-experimental prospective, longitudinal study (Stewart, Abbey, Shnek, Irvine, & Grace, 2004).

Timing of education.

In a systematic review, 22 studies (total of 42 studies, including 23 RCTs) provided education post discharge, with 11 of those studies providing education at CR. Only six studies provided education intervention prior to discharge, two of which were RCTs (Ghisi et al., 2014). A qualitative analysis of 19 participants assessed patient preferences in involvement and desired types of information and reported patient needs for information increased as they took on a more active role in their care, which was highest post discharge (Decker et al., 2007). However, Astin et al. (2008) qualitative analysis reported timing depended on patient preference with some wanting education during the acute phase. Others reported being in shock during the acute event and preferred to have education on the 3rd day of hospitalization or during the early recovery phase. Timing and intensity of interventions were poorly reported and highly varied from five-to-ten minutes to three hours and provided at intervals ranging from daily to every six months (Ghisi et al., 2014). The timing and structure of CR can help to address the post-discharge information needs expressed by patients.

Methods and topics of education.

When receiving information AMI patients preferred information to be individualized,

easily understood education, and adapted to patient preferences, which may also be gender and age specific (Astin et al., 2008; Decker et al.,2007; Stewart et al., 2004). In line with patient preferences, Ghisi et al. identified 37 studies out of 42 studies that provided individual education interventions (88%), but it is unclear whether providing information in an individual format was synonymous with individualization of information (2014). Decker et al. reported that all the patients in the study preferred education to be given with printed materials where another qualitative study reported patients preferred a face-to-face education but supplemented by written material for reference (Astin et al., 2008).

Most patients wanted "as much information as possible" regardless of age or gender (Stewart et al., 2004, p. 46), particularly about risk factors, cardiac anatomy/physiology, and life style changes (Astin et al., 2008; Scott &Thompson, 2003; Stewart et al., 2004). Ghisi et al. (2014) review of interventions reflected patient desire for more information about risk factors, particularly nutrition (26 studies) and exercise (19 studies). Information identified as the most important by patients did not always coincide with the views of those providing the education (Scott &Thompson, 2003) and sometimes perception of education did not meet patients' expectations (Stewart et al., 2004). Stewart et al. also reported patients felt they did not receive enough information about certain topic areas including the role of each doctor in treatment, their prognosis, future treatment choices, family support for lifestyle changes, and cardiac rehab. By providing patients with a QPS, patients can acquire the knowledge and skills to ask questions about the topics they are interested in and need more information about. As CR encompasses a great deal of risk factor management and education, promotion of participation in CR postdischarge education is essential to addressing the future information needs of AMI patients.

Role of educator.

Preference for educator varied across studies. In one study evaluating health information needs of 906 patients after AMI, patients reported their physicians to be the most desirable provider to obtain health information from, followed by the nurse (no statistics provided) (Stewart et al., 2004). However, education interventions in the literature were often provided by nurses or multidisciplinary teams (Ghisi et al., 2014). The literature also suggests that these preferences may be influenced by gender and setting. Inpatient physicians and nurses were viewed to be the least helpful in providing education (Stewart et al., 2004) and in one small study, women preferred physicians as educator (61.7%) whereas men slightly preferred nurses as educator (43.7% vs 40.9%) (Ashton, 1997, as cited in Scott & Thompson, 2003). Astin et al. (2008) echoed results of other studies with high variability in preference for educator. In light of patient preferences and the poor perception of inpatient practitioners, an opportunity exists for physician and nurses alike to enhance education of MI care, particularly during hospitalization.

Education outcomes.

Although all the studies in this review discussed characteristics of MI education, only one systematic review reported on education outcomes. Overall, educational interventions provided to MI patients had a positive effect on patient knowledge, patient satisfaction, and adoption of health behaviors (physical activity, dietary habits, and smoking) with a null or positive effect on psychosocial well-being (Ghisi et al., 2014). Patients who were more satisfied with provision of health information also had statistically significant (F[10] = 3.25, p=.001) greater self-efficacy, were more engaged in preventive health behaviors, and were more satisfied with their health care (Stewart et al., 2004). Recognition of the multiple benefits of providing education emphasizes

the importance of not only providing education prior to discharge, but the need to look for opportunities to encourage patients to receive and seek more information, such as a CR program.

Limitations of education literature.

Application of these findings must take the limitations of each study into account. First and foremost, this literature review is limited by the small number of studies. Ghisi et al. (2014) review was limited by the heterogeneity of interventions, frequency of self-reported measures in the individual studies, and multi-modal approaches which may confound the association between which aspect of the intervention resulted in the desired outcome. Scott and Thompson's (2003) review was limited by date of publication (the majority of studies published prior to 2000), failure to report inclusion study designs, and predominance of white male sample demographics. Despite rigorous qualitative design, both Decker et al. (2007) and Astin et al. (2008) are limited in external validity due to the qualitative nature of the study. Decker et al. is further limited by biased sample characteristics (mostly white, male participants) and sample size (Decker et al., 2007 Stewart et al. (2004) study is limited in application by the high attrition rate (31%), the predominantly white, male sample, and self-reported health behaviors.

Summary and gaps in literature.

In summary, by addressing patients' information and education needs specific to MI care through a QPS, patients can be provided the opportunity to gain skills to be engaged, as well as gain knowledge and confidence to act on this information. A QPS may help patients ask more questions and may encourage participation in CR. CR is a vehicle for further individualized education and risk-factor modification, about which patients have already expressed a desired for; the significance of CR education prior to discharge seems clear in ensuring patient information needs are met. The acute nature of AMI and the trend towards shorter hospital stays (Venkatesa et al., 2016) create a unique challenge for education, which also highlights the importance of providing this information prior to discharge. Further research is needed to explore when is the best time to provide education to AMI patients during hospitalization and when inpatients are most likely to seek information.

Patient Engagement Literature Review

A second review of literature was performed on the topic of patient engagement in patients diagnosed with AMI. A literature search was conducted of PubMed, CINAHL, and grey literature using search strategy ("myocardial infarction" OR "acute coronary syndrome" OR "cardiovascular disease") AND ("patient engagement" OR "patient involvement" OR "patient activation"). Studies were included if: (1) measured an outcome of patient engagement, and (2) main sample population included myocardial infarction, acute coronary syndrome, or cardiovascular disease. All study designs were considered without date limits, and articles were excluded if not available in English or exclusively focused on outcomes of surgical patients who received coronary artery bypass surgery. Ancestry searches of pertinent review articles were pursued to identify any additional studies.

Six studies met inclusion criteria with over half of the studies classified as descriptive correlational design (Arnetz, et al., 2010; Bertoni, Donato, Graffigna, Barello, & Parise, 2015; Erskine et al., 2017; Peters and Keeley, 2017). Bertoni et al. (2015) and Erskine et al. (2017) utilized a longitudinal design. Mitchell et al. (2014) performed a secondary analysis of a previous RCT and Witt, Benson, Campbell, Sillah, and Berra (2016) conducted a non-randomized quasi-experimental study. The focus of this review is the patient outcomes related to patient engagement, but a quick review of the measurements of patient engagement is necessary

Instruments.

Of the instruments measuring patient engagement in the AMI population, the Patient Activation Measure (PAM-22 or PAM-13) was utilized in all but one study (Bertoni, Donato, Graffigna, Barello, & Parise, 2015; Erskine et al., 2017; Mitchell et al., 2014; Peters and Keeley, 2017; Witt, Benson, Campbell, Sillah, and Berra, 2016). The PAM was developed as a 22-item Guttman-like scale that measures the patient's knowledge, skill, and confidence for selfmanagement. Although this scale has demonstrated high rates of reliability and validity in multiple patient populations and languages (Hibbard & Greene, 2013), versions included in this review ranged from 6 to 22 questions, with both Mitchell et al. (2014) and Peters and Keeley (2010) using an alternative version ("PAM-8" and "PAM-10" respectively) without reporting adequate validity or reliability. The broad categories and questions of this instrument allow for use in diverse populations, but were not specific enough to assess particular outcomes like participation at CR.

Arnetz et al. (2010) utilized the Patient Involvement Questionnaire which was specifically developed to measure involvement of patients receiving care for AMI. The instrument was originally 53 four-point Likert-scale questions divided into six subscales and has demonstrated adequate validity and internal reliability (Cronbach $\alpha = 0.75$ or higher) for each scale (Arentz, Höglund, Arnetz, & Winblad, 2008). Arnetz et al. (2010) only used three of six scales in a follow-up study and still maintained the instrument's validity and reliability. Although this instrument has not been validated to the extent of the PAM, the unique design and validation in the AMI population lends this instrument to be better suited for a study focused on promoting patient engagement in AMI to encourage CR participation.

Outcomes.

Despite the consistency in measurement of patient engagement, the primary outcomes of each study varied considerably and included: healthcare utilization (Mitchell et al., 2014; Peters & Keeley, 2017), health behavior outcomes and treatment adherence (Arnetz et al., 2010; Peters & Keeley, 2017; Witt et al., 2016), attendance at cardiac rehab (Witt et al., 2016; Arnetz et al., 2010), health-related quality of life (Erskine et al., 2017), and peer support/relationship factors (Witt et al., 2016; Bertoni et al., 2014). Overall, the studies found higher levels of engagement were associated with increased health-related quality of life and lower levels of engagement were associated with increased healthcare utilization and adverse outcomes, consistent with the more broad patient engagement literature. Social support and positive relationship with partners was associated with higher levels of engagement and adoption of health behaviors.

Erskine et al. (2017) (N=1042) examined the relationship between patient activation and health-related quality of life after hospitalization for acute coronary syndrome at one, three, and six months post-discharge. Fifty percent of the sample was categorized into the lowest levels of patient activation (Level 1 and Level 2). Patients with higher scores of physical health-related quality of life (p<0.001), mental health-related quality of life (p<0.001), and disease-specific health-related quality of life (as measured by Seattle Angina Questionnaire) (p<0.001) were more likely to have higher activation levels.

These positive correlations were counterbalanced by patients with the lowest levels of activation who were found to be OR 1.95 times (95% CI [1.05-3.62]) more likely to experience a clinically meaningful decrease in general mental-health related quality of life than the most activated patients (Level 4) at 1 and 6 months post discharge. And OR 2.69 times (95% CI [1.36-5.3]) and OR 2.18 times (95% CI [1.17-4.05]) of experiencing a clinically meaningful

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

decline in disease-specific quality of life over six months. No statistical significant association was found for lower patient activation levels and physical health-related quality of life. External validity this study is limited by high attrition rate (53%) and lack of diversity in sample (87% white; 61% male) with significant differences in excluded patients compared to included.

Mitchell et al. (2014) (N=695) explored the role of patient activation in 30-day hospital readmissions status for patients with cardiopulmonary diseases. Primary outcome of the sum of all unplanned hospital utilization within 30 days found patients with lower levels of activation were 1.75 (Level 1) to 1.5 (Level 2) times the risk of reutilization of the hospital within 30 days compared to participants in Level 4 (Incident Rate Ratio [IRR] 1.75, 95% CI [1.18, 2.60], p<0.001 and IRR 1.5, 95% CI [1.06, 2.13], *p*<0.001 respectively). Patients at Level 3 also had a 1.30 times higher rate of reutilization (IRR 1.3, 95% CI [0.94, 2.13], *p*=0.03) compared to patients at the highest Level 4. Lower levels of patient engagement were also associated with low health literacy, less education, disabled or retired, or higher levels of depressive symptoms (Mitchell et al., 2014).

Witt et al. (2016) (N=157) conducted a quasi-experimental design to assess the impact of peer-support on quality of life, social support, emotional and physical health of women with cardiovascular disease participating in peer support group. Fifty-nine percent of the 157 women who participated in the online survey reported referral to CR, with 98% of those referred attending at least one session, and 89% completing the program; 89% of participants also reported taking their medication "all the time". Women who reported high level of social support (as documented by the ENRICHED Social Support Inventory) were > 2 times more likely to report a high level of patient activation (OR 2.23, 95% CI [1.04, 4.76], p=0.012) (no confidence interval reported). Limitations of this study include small sample size, self-reported

measures, and sample bias (self-selected, only female participants, predominately wealthier, with higher education) decreases external validity.

Bertoni et al. (2015) (*N*=146; 36 singles; 64 in couple relationship; 46 partners) conducted a descriptive correlational study to evaluate the individual and relational factors affecting patient engagement status post an acute cardiac event. The relationship with the partner had the potential to have both a positive and negative effect on patient engagement. Over protective, depressed, or poor understanding/perception of disease severity could negatively influence the patient's level of engagement (*r*=-.37, *p*< 0.05; *r*=-.52, *p* < 0.01 *r*=-.36, *p*<0.05; and *r*= -.30, *p*<.0.05 respectively). On the other hand, Bertoni et al. identified that patients who had a partner perceived their illness to be less severe and tended to be more engaged in their health care than single patients (*t*=-2.83, *df*=93, *p*=0.006 and *t*=2.04, *df*=90, *p*=0.044 respectively).

Of note, patients who were less depressed (r= -.27; p<0.01), more confident in managing their health (self-efficacy) (r=.50, p<0.001), or felt more informed about their disease (r=.33, p<0.01), were more likely to be engaged in their health compared to those that were not (Bertoni et al., 2015). This again highlights how providing patients with information is a key part of promoting engagement. Small sample size, exploratory study design, older age of sample, and four instruments lacking acceptable validity (Cronbach α < .70) limit interpretation.

Findings from this study suggest interventions to promote patient engagement should include emphasis on reaching patients without a partner who are less likely to be engaged, provide education on illness knowledge and illness severity to promote confidence in the patient, and include the patient's partner in the intervention to facilitate healthy partner role that promotes engagement. All of these can be addressed by using a QPS in the acute care setting that not only provides education about CR, but also could potentially help individuals who lack a support system be more engaged. Also it should be noted that CR itself can provide a second layer of support after discharge making recommendation to attend even more imperative

Peters and Keeley (2017) (N=93) evaluated level of patient engagement and association with adverse clinical outcomes including unplanned readmissions, emergency department visits, and medication errors at first follow-up at MI clinic (10 days post discharge). This study identified significant associations between lower PAM and the defined adverse clinical outcomes (OR 1.63, 95% CI [1.020-1.109], p=0.00441), as well as continued tobacco use (OR 1.060, 95% CI [1.005-1.118], p=0.0325). Younger age (OR 0.953, 95% CI [0.914, 0.994], p=0.0244), female gender (OR 13.676, 95% CI [3.211, 58.251], p=0.0004), and increased burden of comorbidities (OR 2.738, CI [1.675, 4.475] were also identified as predictors of the primary outcome. Findings from this study reiterate the association between increased healthcare utilization and lower patient engagement levels. This study also identifies vulnerable subpopulations, such as females, that are at higher risk for lower engagement who may benefit from targeted interventions to promote engagement and improve outcomes.

The implications of this study are limited by small sample size and potential for selection bias. The criteria of female gender as a predictor of increased adverse clinical outcomes is subject to scrutiny with a wide confidence interval. This finding warrants further exploration and validation in future research. Another weakness of the study is the authors used a modified version of the PAM (PAM-10) without reporting reliability and validity.

Arnetz et al. (2010) (*N*=591) conducted a descriptive correlation study to evaluate the impact of patient involvement during hospitalization for AMI on health behavior outcomes 6 to 10 weeks post discharge, including attendance at CR. Using three of the six validated subscales (Patient needs, Information, and Treatment plan) from the Patient Involvement Questionnaire,

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

Arnetz et al. evaluated the level of involvement associated with select medical, behavioral, and secondary prevention outcomes. Patients with more cardiac symptoms post-discharge had lower scores on their perception of involvement during hospitalization in the areas of Patient Needs for symptom of *shortness of breath* ((Mann-Whitney *U*, *Z*=-2.0, *p*<0.05) and Information for symptom of *angina* (Mann-Whitney *U*, *Z*=-2.9, *p*<0.01).

The study reported that patients who were less satisfied with how their needs were met (lower Patient Needs scores) during the hospitalization were more likely to attend CR than those who had higher scores (p<0.01). No association was found between patient in-hospital involvement and medication compliance. For secondary prevention outcomes of smoking cessation and achieved blood pressure control, a statistically significant association was noted for patients with lower scores on the Patient Needs scales and treatment scale respectively (p<0.05 in both respects), but in secondary analysis with logistic regression, the associations were weak

In contrast with Witt et al.'s findings, this study found an association with lower patient engagement and CR participation. Further research is needed to better understand this relationship. Although the authors used robust statistical analysis and utilized a patient-specific validated instrument, high attrition rate (24%), and recall bias from patient self-administered surveys conducted six to ten weeks post discharge are notable limitations.

Summary and gaps in patient engagement literature.

In summary, as consistent with other patient populations, lower patient activation or engagement in the AMI population is associated with increased healthcare utilization and adverse outcomes, making promotion of patient engagement a key aspect of post-MI care. As none of the studies measured patient engagement during hospitalization and only one study assessed the effect of an intervention (peer support) (Witt et al., 2016), future research is needed to explore the role of patient engagement for inpatients and in response to evidenced-based interventions, such as a QPS. These studies also highlight inconsistent findings of the relationship between patient engagement and CR participation, warranting further research. Continued testing of both the PAM and the Patient Involvement Questionnaire in the inpatient setting may also shed light on how inpatient engagement may change over time and influence outpatient outcomes, including CR participation. This study can explore the use of a QPS in the inpatient setting and the role of patient engagement in encouraging CR participation, which in addition to patient engagement, may improve patient outcomes in this population.

Question Prompt Sheet Literature Review

The third and final review of the literature on use of a question prompt sheet was conducted spanning research from 2007 to July 2017. Electronic databases PubMed, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, and Google Scholar were searched using the following terms: "question prompt list," "question prompt sheet," "patient questions," "question asking," and "asking questions." Review limited by date (as above), because of the volume of literature on this particular topic, and age (\geq 19 years). Ancestry search of pertinent articles was pursued to identify any additional studies. Due to the lack of literature related to a QPS in cardiology patients after 2007, any cardiology studies identified were included regardless of publication date. For the purposes of this review, "question prompt list" and "question prompt sheet" terms are interchangeable. Inclusion criteria for literature review as follows:

- Evaluate the effect of a QPS on patient question-asking behavior, patient participation, or patient engagement in patient-provider interaction. Or studies that assessed the feasibility or usefulness of a QPS.
- QPS intervention administered to patient in paper/written form.

• One of the outcomes measured number of questions asked by patient in response to QPS.

Exclusion criteria for literature review includes:

- QPS administered via internet, phone app, or computer application.
- QPS designed specifically to increase participation in clinical trials.
- Studies focused on the development rather than efficacy of QPS.
- QPS use in the pediatric setting, mental health, or focused only on caregiver participation.

Of the 839 articles identified in the initial search 15 studies met inclusion criteria for this review (Figure 1). Although a Google Scholar search resulted in 687 using only the first two search terms listed in search strategy, only 31 were selected by relevancy search of titles/abstract. Study designs included four systematic reviews (Dimoska, Tattersall, Butow, Shepherd, & Kinnersley, 2008; Henselmans, de Haes, & Smets, 2013; Kinnersley et al., 2007; Sansoni et al., 2015), with Kinnersley et al. (2007) including a meta-analysis. Eight RCTs (Bolman, Brug, Bär, Martinali, & van den Borne, 2005; Clayton et al., 2007; Eggly et al., 2016; Galliher et al., 2010; Martinali, Bolman, Brug, van den Borne, & Bar, 2001; Shirai et al., 2012; Smets, van Heijl, van Wijngaarden, Henselmans, & van Berge Henegouwen, 2012; van Weert, Jansen, Spreeuwenberg, van Dulmen, & Bensing, 2011), two pre/post quasi-experimental studies (Dimoska et al., 2012; Yeh, Cheng, Chung, & Smith, 2014), and one qualitative descriptive study (Brandes et al., 2014) were also included.

Sample characteristics.

Oncology patient populations predominated the study samples (Brandes et al., 2014; Clayton et al., 2007; Dimoska et al., 2008; Eggly et al., 2016; Henselmans et al., 2013; Shirai et al., 2012; Smets et al., 2012; van Weert et al., 2011; Yeh et al., 2014). Two of the systematic reviews (Kinnersley et al., 2007; Sansoni et al., 2015) and one RCT (Galliher et al., 2010) included heterogeneous patient populations, and only two studies evaluated a QPS in patients with cardiology diagnoses (coronary artery disease [CAD]) (Bolman et al., 2005; Martinali et al., 2001). All but one study was conducted in the outpatient setting (van Weert et al., 2011).

Sample sizes (*N*) of the RCTs, quasi-experimental and descriptive studies ranged from 30 to 832 patients, and in the seven studies reporting clinician participation in the intervention, a range of one to 48 providers participated. Sample size reporting was inconsistent across the systematic reviews, but Dimoska et al. (2008) reported *N*=2,159 from 15 studies (including 9 RCTs) with study sample size ranging from 60 to 479, and Kinnersley et al. (2010) reported *N*=8,244 (33 RCTs) with sample sizes ranging from 50 to 318.

Mean age of all studies that reported this demographic was 56.5 years (Brandes et al., 2014; Dimoska et al., 2008; Eggly et al., 2013; Yeh et al., 2014). None of the studies approached balanced minority representation and Eggly et al. (2013) strictly recruited black patients and white providers. Study samples were predominantly male with exception of Dimoska et al. (2012), with one study and one systematic review approaching equal gender representation (Brandes et al., 2014; Dimoska et al., 2008). Three RCTs did not report baseline demographics (Bolman et al., 2005; Martinali et al., 2001; van Weert et al., 2011).

Interventions.

The QPS interventions included in the systematic reviews were heterogeneous. The types of interventions included QPS alone, QPS plus coaching or communication intervention, QPS combined with physician-endorsement, or patient-initiated question list (Dimoska et al., 2008; Sansoni et al., 2015; Henselmans et al., 2013; Kinnersley et al., 2010). Henselmans et al. (2013)

also included non-QPS interventions as part of their review. Kinnersley et al. (2010) was the only review to organize studies by when the intervention was delivered: immediately prior to consultation or sometime before the day of consultation.

Of the RCTs, quasi-experimental and descriptive studies, QPS interventions were either implemented in isolation or paired with a coaching or communication intervention for patients with or without provider education. Only Clayton et al. (2007) included physician endorsement of QPS. The majority of the studies looked to prepare patients for an upcoming appointment or consultation. The number of questions on the QPS varied broadly from three to 112 questions with five studies failing to report the length of the QPS (Dimoska et al., 2012; Henselmans et al., 2013; Kinnersley et al., 2007; van Weert et al., 2011). Three studies focused on feasibility of the QPS (Dimoska et al., 2012; Shirai et al., 2012; Yeh et al., 2014).

Primary outcome for systematic reviews.

For primary outcome of question-asking behavior, all four systematic reviews found some improvement in number of questions asked in the intervention groups who received QPS compared to control, particularly with specific topics of questions and physician endorsement (Dimoska, et al., 2008; Henselmans, et al., 2013; Kinnersley et al., 2007; Sansoni et al., 2015). Dimoska et al. (2008) reported patients who receive a QPS asked statistically more questions than those in control in three out of six studies.

On the other hand, Sansoni et al. (2015) (N=42 studies) found no statistical difference in number of questions asked in 10 out of 20 single/ multiple intervention studies (comparing QPS to control or additional intervention). Four studies with five interventions demonstrated statistically significant differences in question asking among patients who received QPS. Another study found that the number of questions increased with the addition of a broader, patient-written QPS, as compared to a pre-scripted list, however this was not statistically significant (Thompson, 1990 as cited in Sansoni et al., 2015). Physician endorsement accompanied the QPS in four out of five studies that reported more questions or concerns, with one study reporting no difference. Of the 10 combined intervention studies (QPS plus coaching or communication intervention) that measured total questions asked, six studies with seven interventions demonstrated a significant increase in question asking in the QPS group. In this review it is important to note that a higher percentage (70%) of studies that endorsed or encouraged patients to use QPS (combined interventions) noted a statistically significant difference compared to those studies who did not (29%).

Henselmans et al. (2013) (N=46 studies, 24 RCTs) systematic review of oncology patients observed eight out of the total 11 studies measured question-asking behavior, and three of those eight studies demonstrated statistically significant increase in the number of questions asked by the QPS intervention group. Henselmans et al. (2013) was the only systematic review to assess the impact of QPS on patient participation (e.g. reporting pain, patient-controlling behaviors, or expression of concerns) and found the intervention groups had statistically higher levels of participation in five of the six studies. In Kinnersley et al. (2007) (N=33 RCTs), six of the 17 studies analyzed question asking as an outcome, and demonstrated a small, but statistically significant increase in question asking in the intervention group compared to the control. This finding was confirmed by the meta-analysis (Standardized Mean Difference [SMD] 0.27, CI 95% [0.19, 0.36]).

Primary outcome for individual studies.

Of the 11 individual studies in this review, six measured number of questions asked (Clayton et al., 2007; Eggly et al., 2016; Galliher et al., 2010; Shirai et al., 2012; Smets et al.,

2011; van Weert et al., 2011) and four of the six studies (Clayton et al., 2007; Eggly, et al., 2016; Smets et al., 2011;van Weert et al., 2011) reported statistically significant increases in the overall number of questions asked in patients who received QPS compared with control or usual care. Eggly et al. (2016) found a significant difference in increased frequency counts of patient questions or concerns (p=0.02) between those who received a QPS and usual care, however no significant difference was noted when coaching was added to the QPS (p=0.86). Clayton et al. (2007) was the only study to include physician endorsement in QPS intervention finding that patients were 2.31 times more likely to ask questions than the control (95% CI [1.68-3.18], p < 0.0001). Of note, the level of physician endorsement appeared to have a dose-effect on question asking (X^2 = 34.36, p<0.0001) (Clayton et al., 2007).

Topics of questions asked.

Three systematic reviews (Dimoska et al., 2008; Henselmans et al., 2013; Sansoni et al., 2015) and three individual studies (Shirai et al., 2012; Smets et al., 2011; van Weert et al., 2011) explored the content of question asked. Of the systematic reviews, two of the three cited an increase in questions asked about particular topics like prognosis or treatment in the majority of studies, even when statistically significant differences in overall question asking was not identified (Dimoska et al., 2008; Henselmans et al., 2013). Sansoni et al. (2015) reported prognosis, followed by treatment/tests, were the most common topic areas reported in the studies reviewed. Whereas two individual studies (Smets et al., 2011; van Weert et al., 2011) found statistical significant increases in questions asked about treatment and procedures for patients who received a QPS compared to no QPS, another study reported no significant differences (Shirai et al., 2012).

Secondary outcomes.

Patient satisfaction, information recall, anxiety, and consultation duration were the other most common outcomes measured and reported in this literature review.

Patient satisfaction.

Of the three systematic reviews that reported on patient satisfaction the findings were mixed, with either a null or positive effect identified overall (Henselmans et al., 2013; Kinnersley et al., 2015; Sansoni et al., 2015). One found no difference in patient satisfaction between QPS and controls (Henselmans et al., 2013), Sansoni et al (2015) found inconsistent evidence to determine the impact of a patient QPS on patient satisfaction, and the Kinnersley et al. (2015) meta-analysis identified a small, but statistically significant increase in patient satisfaction (SMD 0.09, CI 95% [0.03, 0.16]). The systematic reviews acknowledged many of the studies that measured patient satisfaction had high satisfaction across control and intervention groups so a "ceiling effect" may have limited ability to detect statistical significance (Sansoni et al., 2015; Henselmans et al., 2013). Six individual studies (Bolman et al., 2005; Clayton et al., 2007; Martinali et al., 2000; Shirai et al., 2012; Smets et al., 2011; Yeh et al., 2014) measured patient satisfaction and found no statistical difference in patient satisfaction with use of QPS.

Information recall.

The impact of QPS on information exchange and information recall was variable, with mixed results across systematic reviews and individual studies. However, more information recall or perceived exchange was noted in studies where the QPS was endorsed. Sansoni et al. (2015) identified combined interventions of QPS with coaching had more positive effects on knowledge recall, along with when physician encouraged use of the QPS, but evidence was insufficient for the use of a QPS alone. In Dimoska et al.'s (2008) review only one of the three studies that measured information recall saw an increase, but only when QPS was endorsed.

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

Henselmans et al. (2013) found no difference in knowledge recall between QPS and control groups. Interestingly, the meta-analysis identified a small, but nonsignificant decrease in knowledge in two of the five studies measuring this outcome, with no difference noted in the other three (SMD -0.34 95% CI [-0.94 to 0.25]) (Kinnersley et al., 2015). Kinnersley et al. acknowledged these findings may be confounded by the controls in those studies.

Of the three individual studies that measured information exchange and information recall (Bolman et al., 2005; Clayton et al., 2007; van Weert et al., 2011), only one found statistically significant recall improvement for specific topics of hygiene and symptoms to report (p< 0.05) (van Weert et al., 2011), one identified higher conceptual knowledge in the control group compared to the QPS (Bolman et al., 2005), and Clayton et al. (2007) found no difference between QPS and control. Considering that Clayton et al.'s study also included endorsement of QPS, these findings are in contradiction with the results of the systematic reviews.

Anxiety.

Similar to the impact of a QPS on patient satisfaction, research findings on patient anxiety as a result of the QPS were somewhat mixed, but the majority of studies reporting a null or positive effect. Patient anxiety was measured with a variety of different instruments, but the Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory was the most common. Kinnersley et al. (2010) found a non-statistical trend in decreased anxiety for patients who received QPS intervention just prior to consultation, Sansoni et al.'s review (2015) bore inconsistent findings across studies, and the other two reviews cited no difference (Dimoska et al., 2008; Henselmans et al., 2013). Only three individual RCTs measured patient anxiety, with Clayton et al. (2007) finding no difference between intervention and control. Bolman et al. (2005) and Martinali et al. (2001) both identifying decreased anxiety in the intervention groups (F(2,102) = 4.30; p=0.04 and F(1, 94)

=56.15; p=0.02 respectively). However, Bolman et al. only identified this difference at the first appointment and in subsequent appointments the QPS did not see any impact anxiety. Yeh et al. (2014) also measured anxiety and found an overall decrease of anxiety from pre-to post-consultation (p<0.005).

Duration of consultation.

The impact of QPS on length of consultation was also variable across systematic reviews and individual studies, but the majority of studies cited null or some increase in length of consultation. Dimoska et al. (2008) identified five studies that measured consultation length with three out of five showing no difference between QPS and control, and one each demonstrating an increase and decrease in consultation length. Sansoni et al. (2015) identified six studies that lengthened consultation (notably most of these studies also had positive findings for question-asking behavior), 11 studies showed no difference, and two studies demonstrated shorter consultation in the intervention groups. Henselmans et al. (2013) echoed Dimoska's findings of mixed results and Kinnersley et al. (2007) noted only three of 17 studies with statistically significant increase in length of consultation for QPS intervention, with meta-analysis revealing a small, but not significant increase (SMD 0.10 95% CI [-0.05 to 0.25]).

Four RCTs evaluated the QPS impact on length of consultation and two studies found no difference between QPS and control group (Smets et al., 2011; Eggly et al., 2016). Clayton et al. (2007) found QPS increased consultation by 7 minutes (p=0.002), and Bolman et al. (2005) had mixed results with first consultation showing a significant decrease in consultation time and the third consultation showing a significant increase in consultation time.

Usefulness and feasibility.

Five studies evaluated some or all aspects of usefulness and feasibility of QPS for

patients during consultations with the majority of studies reporting positive feedback from patients and physicians without affecting workflow (Bolman et al., 2005; Brandes et al., 2014; Dimoska et al., 2012; Shirai et al.,2012; Yeh et al., 2014). Many patients and their caregivers found the QPS easy to use (Bolman et al., 2005; Brandes et al., 2014; Dimoska et al., 2012; Martinali et al., 2000), reported the QPS helpful in facilitating question asking (Brandes et al., 2014; Shirai et al., 2012; Yeh et al., 2014), and endorsed that they would use it again in future encounters (Shirai et al., 2012; Bolman et al., 2005).

Studies also reported QPS had no negative effects on physician workflow or consultation (Yeh et al., 2014; Dimoska et al., 2012). Dimoska et al. (2012) noted over half the clinicians found the QPS made communication easier and did not affect consultation duration. Dimoska et al. (2012) also reported of the 139 patients surveyed post-consultation, 89% reported using it and 44% reported referring to it a least once during the consultation. Consistent with patient education and information needs reviewed earlier, Brandes et al. (2014) found patients individualized the QPS to meet their information needs and rarely asked questions directly from QPS.

Limitations of QPS literature.

The results of these studies should be applied with knowledge of their limitations as only Kinnersley et al. (2010) approached strong study design with Cochrane review protocol and meta-analysis. Dimoska et al. (2008) results should be interpreted in context of older population (average age study > 50 years old) and potential bias since the same author was responsible for publishing half of the studies in the review. Sansoni et al. (2015) review's methodology with rapid review weakened the rigor of the study design and the absence of report of study designs included in the review warrants scrutiny. Henselmans et al. (2013) review is limited by the

significant variance in study types, lack of demographics information, and limited search strategy. Smets et al. (2011) suffered from unclear blinding protocols in the study design. Other limitations included poor descriptions of randomization technique (Clayton et al., 2007; Martinali et al., 2001; Smets et al., 2011), selection bias with clustered/stratified randomization (van Weert et al., 2011; Galliher et al., 2010), and lack of physician blinding (Clayton et al., 2007; Martinali et al., 2000). Inherently, the QPS intervention was difficult to blind from physicians, particularly if endorsement was part of the intervention (Clayton et al., 2007). Bolman et al., 2005 demonstrated poor randomization technique with significant gender differences between groups. The external validity of the RCTs, quasi-experimental and descriptive studies is also limited to oncology populations, with only three studies evaluating a QPS in patient with non-oncology diagnoses (Bolman et al., 2005; Martinali et al., 2001; Galliher et al., 2010).

Results of studies in which patients and providers self-reported participation are susceptible to recall bias and the Hawthorne effect when patients and providers were observed (Bolman et al., 2005; Galliher et al., 2010; Martinali et al., 2001; Shirai et al., 2012). Several of the studies in this review lacked power (Brandes et al., 2014; Galliher et al., 2010; Shirai et al., 2012; Smets et al., 2011; Yeh et al., 2014) or focused on specific culture or ethnicity (Eggly et al., 2016; Shirai, et al., 2012) which limits the external validity of these findings.

Study design of pre/post-test single group (Dimoska et al., 2012; Yeh et al., 2014), lack of power analysis (Bolman et al., 2005; Martinali et al., 2001; van Weert et al., 2011), and high attrition or missing data (Brandes et al., 2014; Bolman et al; 2005; Smets et al., 2011), were also notable limitations. Brandes et al. (2014) and Yeh et al. (2014) were prone to selection bias with only one provider involved in study. Galliher et al. (2010) lacked inter-rater reliability between

coders and two studies were missing adequate description of control interventions (Clayton et al., 2007; Bolman et al., 2005).

Summary and Gaps in QPS Literature.

The QPS literature suggests the potential to increase patient question asking and participation in consultation, particularly when related to specific patient needs (treatment and prognosis), combined with coaching, and when endorsed by a provider. Although the results of these studies were not unanimous in the effectiveness of a QPS to improve question asking behavior, several studies, including the meta-analysis of 33 RCTs demonstrated that a QPS can increase patient question asking and participation in consultation. The specific questions asked by patients more frequently in response to a QPS reflected the topics identified in education literature in which patients expressed wanting more information about prognosis and future treatment options.

A consistent null or positive effect on both patient satisfaction and anxiety infers that a QPS is a safe intervention with potential to influence the patient experience, a key part of patient-centered care. A QPS should not be used for education alone, as the literature suggests no increases in knowledge or recall of information, but there are strong indications QPS influences patient-provider communication, which enhances patient-centered care. The literature also supports the feasibility of this intervention in that both patients and providers find it: helpful in encouraging patients to ask questions, easy to use, and, generally, not increasing physician workload. As evident by the literature reviewed, these outcomes are based on mixed findings and limited to the outpatient setting which warrants further exploration in the inpatient setting.

Another gap exists in using this type of intervention with acute cardiology populations. Only one study was conducted in the inpatient setting (van Weert et al., 2011), and two different studies evaluated patient engagement in patients diagnosed with coronary artery disease with lack of significant results (Bolman et al., 2005; Martinali et al., 2001). This review demonstrates a unique opportunity wherein the gaps of literature regarding use of a QPS in the inpatient setting with cardiology populations should be explored.

A CR-specific QPS paired with physician endorsement and nurse education has the potential to address these gaps in literature and promote patient engagement during hospitalization for patients' diagnosed with AMI. Furthermore, because of the influence of patient engagement on the patient's proactivity in their own care, some educational benefits may be observable due to the activation of patients' knowledge, confidence, and skill.

Theoretical Framework

In considering how to promote patient engagement, Bandura's social cognitive theory offers assistance (Bandura, 1986). This theory suggests that a behavior, such as asking questions, is affected by the dynamic relationships between personal, environmental, and behavioral factors (Figure 2). If a patient perceives they are capable of asking questions, known as self-efficacy, and has the knowledge and skills to enact that behavior, patients may be more inclined to ask questions. As this model highlights, the patient's decision to participate in a behavior does not occur in isolation, but rather is influenced by responses of the healthcare team, family, and friends. Responses to the patient's questions can either negatively or positive reinforce question-asking behavior.

Methods

Patient-centered care is essential to improve patient outcomes and decrease healthcare costs. Promotion of patient engagement, as a necessary part of patient-centered care, can help patients and families develop the knowledge, skills, and confidence to become "active" in

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

managing their health. Research demonstrates higher levels of engagement can lead to improved patient outcomes and adoption of health-related behaviors, making the development of interventions to promote patient engagement a priority. A CR-specific QPS for patients hospitalized with AMI has potential to promote patient engagement and influence patient intention to attend CR post-discharge.

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine the feasibility of utilizing a CR-specific QPS to promote patient engagement in interprofessional bedside rounds for inpatients with AMI. The study team hypothesized that individuals with higher levels of engagement would be more likely to express intention to attend CR.

Definitions

The following definitions are included to provide clarity and understanding of the study:

- Cardiac Rehabilitation (CR): A multidisciplinary program designed to improve the
 overall health of individuals with cardiovascular diagnoses through prescribed and
 individualized exercise programs, cardiac risk factor modification, and psychosocial
 counseling (Mampuya, 2012). CR traditionally has three phases. For the purposes of this
 study, CR will indicate Phase II unless otherwise indicated. Phase II is an outpatient
 program initiated within first few months after a cardiac event or surgery and is physician
 prescribed with supervised exercise.
- Patient Engagement: (1)" understanding the importance of taking an active role in one's health and health care", (2) having the "knowledge, confidence, and skill" to manage health, and (3) using the knowledge, confidence, and skills to enact health-promoting behaviors (Simmons et al., 2014, p.9).

- Question Prompt Sheet (QPS): A list of questions provided to the patient by the care team, where the patient selects which questions they want to ask their licensed independent provider (Sansoni et al., 2015).
- Acute Myocardial Infarction (AMI): Includes Non-ST elevated and ST-elevated MI with or without percutaneous intervention including both type 1 (atherosclerotic plaque rupture) and type 2 (myocardial injury with necrosis secondary to condition other than coronary artery disease) (Thygesen et al., 2012).

Research Design and Setting

A descriptive correlational study was implemented on two acute care cardiology units (58 bed) at a rural academic medical center in Southeast United States. This study was conducted as part of a patient care initiative to provide all AMI patients on the two units with education about CR and encourage question-asking behavior. Common diagnoses on these units included AMI, heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, arrhythmias, stable heart transplant, and left ventricular assist devices. The acute cardiology service on these two units historically provides care to approximately 15 AMI patients per month with high month-to-month variability. The interprofessional team that conducts daily structured bedside rounds on these two units includes an attending, fellow, and resident physicians, clinical nurse, social worker, case manager, and pharmacist. Interprofessional rounds are conducted Monday through Friday from 9:00am to 11:30am with exception of holidays and weekends. The acute cardiology. Each team has an intern and resident physician. All the physicians on the acute cardiology serve (ACS) rotate off service approximately every one to three weeks.
Bedside interprofessional rounds last approximately six to ten minutes per patient and are primarily focused on discussing the plan of care and discharge needs. The intern or resident leads the initial presentation of the patient and plan-of-care outside the room, and then each discipline is given the opportunity to discuss priorities or concerns. After interprofessional team collaboration, the entire team enters the patient's room and introduces themselves to the patient. The resident or intern then presents the plan of care to the patient and asked if the patient had any questions. If a patient is off the floor or in the bathroom, the team skips the bedside portion of rounds understanding that members of the team would return to discuss particular aspects of the plan when the patient was available.

Approval for the implementation of study (Figure 3) and institutional consent for chart review (Figure 4) were obtained from hospital administration. Internal Review Board approval was obtained from institution (Figure 5).

Sample

A convenience sample included adult patients (age \geq 19 years old) hospitalized with primary or secondary diagnosis of AMI admitted to the ACS between October to December. Patients were determined eligible if they met the following criteria: (1) adults hospitalized with primary or secondary diagnoses of AMI, (2) admitted to the acute cardiology service from October to December, (3) English-speaking, and (4) able to read questions on QPS back to observer. Patients were excluded if they were: (1) non-English speakers, (2) altered mental status (e.g. diagnoses of dementia per chart review, positive screening for delirium with score \geq 2 on Nursing Delirium Screening-delirium screening tool (NuDESC) (Hargrave et al., 2017) within past 48 hours, or clinical nurse concern regarding change in patient mental status), or 3) primary medical team a non-ACS service. A convenience sample of physicians was also recruited to participate in study. Physicians had to be English-speaking and providing patient care on the acute cardiology service. Any physician not meeting those two criteria was excluded. All physicians on the acute cardiology service and nurses on both units were invited to voluntarily participate in supplementary education regarding CR, patient engagement, and QPS.

Procedures

Study was conducted prospectively over eight weeks beginning with physician education at the end of October.

Question prompt sheet.

A twelve-question QPS (Figure 6) was developed at the sixth-grade reading level with the input from an attending cardiologist, patient education services, CR and hospital nursing staff using evidenced-based literature (AACVPR, 2018; AHA, 2016; Neubeck et al., 2011; Smith et al., 2011; Thomas et al., 2010). Two questions from the American Heart Association patient resources on CR were included with copyright permission obtained (American Heart Association, 2017). Participants potentially eligible for the study were identified by the charge nurses prior to morning rounds and eligibility confirmed by researcher with chart review. The shift managers on each unit received basic training on the study protocol through written instructions prior to implementation. Eligible patients were provided education regarding CR and QPS by either the researcher or one of three trained observers before the beginning of morning rounds. Patients were encouraged to ask questions about CR or other aspects of their care during rounds.

Physician and nursing education.

In addition to the QPS for the patient, the physicians and nursing staff received education regarding CR, patient engagement, and the QPS. Physician education was provided through five-minute verbal presentation with handouts weekly for seven out of the eight weeks of the study period. They were encouraged to endorse CR to the patient and family during rounds and refer patients to the QPS to encourage patient engagement.

Nursing staff on both units received a five-minute verbal presentation and handout during morning huddle or individualized teaching sessions. This education was provided prior to and during the first two weeks of the study. Nurses were also asked to help research team identify eligible patients. Nurses who were unable to attend these sessions received an emailed version of the presentation. Nurses were encouraged to discuss CR and the QPS with their patients and encourage patients and families to ask questions.

Measures

Patient engagement was measured by: (1) observed number and type of questions asked patient or family during morning rounds, and (2) number of questions asked about other topics related to MI care, and (3) patient perception of patient engagement as measured by Patient Involvement Questionnaire. Further data collection included observed physician statements of endorsement of CR and QPS at patient bedside, demographics of patients and physicians, patient and physician self-reported perception of intervention, and patient self-reported intention of attending CR post-discharge. The methods of measurement included direct observation, chart review, physician, and patient self-administered questionnaires.

Data collection.

Observation

Physician endorsement and patient question-asking behavior were measured with direct observation during rounds. Only one observer was present on a given day to observe eligible patients. The observer stood with the interprofessional team during the rounds outside the room, and then observed bedside rounds from the doorway once team entered patient room. The observers received training on the study protocol prior to implementation. Although three observers were trained, only one observer and the researcher conducted observations. No simultaneous observations were conducted during study period. Eligible patients and physicians providing care to eligible patients were observed under waiver of consent to prevent alteration of behavior and ensure data validity.

To control for variability in observation practices, a standardized observation checklist was developed (Figure 7) and team members received standardized training about the observation protocol. Prior to the start of the study the researcher and observers practiced observations with the checklist during the rounding process to compare observations, resolve any incongruences, and test checklist feasibility. Patients were observed every day during the rounding process for the entire length of stay. Physician endorsement of CR was marked as present or not present and endorsement of QPS was coded as absent, basic, or extensive, mirroring methodology incorporated into a previous study (Clayton et al., 2007).

Questionnaires

Two subscales of the Patient Involvement Questionnaire (PIQ) measured patient engagement. (Arnetz et al., 2008; Arnetz et al., 2010). This 53-question four-point Likert scale instrument was designed to assess patient perceptions of involvement during hospitalization

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

while receiving care for acute myocardial infarction care and has demonstrated good validity and internal reliability in all six subscales (Arnetz, et al., 2008; Arnetz et al., 2010). The subscales of Information, Patient Needs, and Treatment Planning subscales were found to have higher and significant correlation to patient readiness (self-reported) for discharge (Arnetz et al., 2008).

The Patient Needs subscale refers to the degree to which patients' needs were fulfilled related to questions asked, understanding information, respect, and opportunity to discuss treatments and medications (Arnetz et al., 2010). Treatment Planning refers to the "patient's role in discussing examinations and treatment options, treatment goals and participating in planning post-discharge care" (Arnetz et al., 2010, p. 302). Because this study was focused on assessing patient's readiness for attendance at CR after discharge and minimizing patient burden, only the Patient Needs and Treatment Planning subscales were utilized for a total of 11 questions (validity $\alpha = 0.81$ and $\alpha = 0.76$ respectively) (Arnetz et al., 2010) (Table 1). Subscale questions were made more specific to CR and MI with author permission (Figure 8).

Eligible patients who were observed during their stay were approached to complete questionnaire on the day before or day of discharge. Patients received written IRB-approved scripted consent (Figure 9) and provided documentation of consent by completing the questionnaire. Patients were given 30 minutes to self-administer the PIQ as well as a supplemental four questions in five-point Likert Scale design developed for this study to assess helpfulness of QPS and perception of strength of physician endorsement to CR (based on previous study) (Tsui, Shanmugasegaram, Jamnik, Wu, & Grace, 2012). Intention to attend cardiac rehab was collected via yes/no response. The researcher and observers were available if patients had questions or needed assistance in filling out the questionnaire. Indication of any patient utilizing research staff to facilitate completion of the questionnaire was recorded. Physician perception of QPS intervention and education was obtained through selfadministered questionnaire. The questionnaire was developed for this study based on evidencedbased literature (Ghisi, Polyzotis, Oh, Pakosh, & Grace, 2013) and cardiologist input. The fivepoint Likert scale questions assessed perception of helpfulness of education and patient QPS, self-evaluation of current practices in endorsement, referral to CR, and barriers to endorsement of CR in the inpatient setting (7 questions) with one open-ended question for feedback. Any physician on the acute cardiology service was invited to fill out a questionnaire once during their rotation at the weekly educational session. Physicians received IRB-approved scripted consent with opportunity to participate in post-procedure questionnaire (Figure 10). Drop-off location provided in work room to account for demands of physician schedule and provide flexibility in filling out questionnaire.

Demographics.

Demographics of patients were collected via chart review of electronic medical record and self-reported questionnaire. Chart review included age, gender, length-of-stay, and diagnosis of MI of both included and excluded patients. Other demographics were only collected on patients who completed self-reported pre-discharge questionnaire including race, level of education, county, history of MI, PCI or CABG, tobacco use, marital status, and employment status. Presence of CR nurse providing education to patients was also obtained via chart review on patients included in the study. Physician demographics were obtained through a self-reported questionnaire including age, gender, role (intern vs attending), and years of experience.

Data analysis

Data was organized and analyzed with SPSS® v.24 statistical software (Unicom). All data was non-parametric except for age of included patients. Descriptive statistics were

calculated for demographic data and reported as medians and interquartile ranges for continuous variables and frequency and percentages for categorical variables. Question-asking behavior was calculated as median and interquartile ranges of total number of questions asked during length of stay. Questions were further categorized by topics of question and reported as percentages and frequencies. PIQ subscales of Treatment Plan and Patients Needs were computed as median and interquartile range individually. Similar to Arnetz et al. (2010), the average of the scales was converted to a score and reported on scale from 0 to 100 with higher scores indicating higher perception of engagement. Rates of physician endorsement of CR and QPS, and patient self-reported intention to attend CR were reported as frequencies and percentages. For patients and physician self-reported surveys, median and interquartile range were calculated for Likert scale questions and barriers to patient engagement on physician survey were reported as frequency and percent.

For inferential analysis, a Mann Whitney U was computed to determine the difference in question-asking behavior of those who expressed intention to attend CR versus those who did not. This same analysis strategy was used for Treatment Plan and Patient Needs subscales scores and intention to attend CR. An exact Chi-Square test was computed to determine the relationship between intention to attend CR and observed physician endorsement of CR. Differences between groups were calculated with appropriate statistics (Independent *t*-test, exact Mann Whitney *U*, and exact Chi-square.) All patient and physician data were deidentified for analysis. Significance defined as p < 0.05.

Results

From October to December, 42 eligible patients were identified to participate in study. Of the 42 patients who received a QPS, 10 patients who were initially included became ineligible prior to observation, resulting in 32 patients for final analysis (Figure 11). Sixteen patients participated in post-intervention questionnaire prior to discharge and four physicians completed provider questionnaire.

Nonparticipants vs Participants

The 25 patients excluded from the study were similar in age compared to those that were included (median age of 68 years old versus and 68.5 years old) but tended to have longer length of stay (median 5 days versus 3 days) and more severe MI diagnosis with sixteen percent (n=25) of those excluded diagnosed with STEMI. The remaining 21 patients were classified as NSTEMI, 9 of which were designated as NSTEMI type 2. The 10 patients who became ineligible prior to observations tended to be younger than the 32 who were observed (median 67.5 years old versus 68.5 years old) and more likely to be male (80% vs. 50%) (Table 2). There were no statistically significant differences in demographics between those who were not observed compared to those who were included, except for MI diagnosis, as 4 patients in the not observed group had non-MI diagnoses.

Demographics

The mean age of patients included in the study (n=32) was 66.4 years of age and female and male genders were equally represented (Table 2). All of the patients observed were classified as NSTEMI diagnosis with predominant number of cases designated as type 1 (n=21). Median length of stay was 3 days. Of the patients who opted to take the questionnaire (n=16), the age was slightly younger than those who opted out, but this was not statistically significant (Table 2). There were no statistically significant differences in demographics for the 16 patients that took the questionnaire compared to the 16 patients who did not. The questionnaire sample was predominantly white (75.0%), married (50.0%), and retired (62.5%), with the majority of patients reporting at least a high school education (75.0%) (Table 3). Of the four physicians who completed surveys, two were interns, one was a second-year resident, and one was a third-year resident, with no representation from fellow or attending physicians. Median age was 29.5 years; one was female, three were male. Physicians reported a median of 1.6 years of experience.

Question-Asking Behavior

The median of the total number of questions asked by patients (n=32) on interprofessional rounds during their hospital stay was one (IQR 2). Twelve patients did not ask any questions during their hospital stay. The frequency of questions asked was determined for each hospital day. For the 20 patients who asked questions, nine patients (45%) asked at least one question on hospital day two, followed by 7 patients (35%) on hospital day three, and 5 patients (10%) on hospital day 1. Although patients were the most common individual to ask questions, both the patient and the family asked questions 20% of the time. A total of 52 questions were asked during the study period with 47% of questions focused on treatment and procedures (Figure 12). Only two questions asked about CR. Number of questions asked was not statistically different for patients intending to attend CR versus those who did not (Exact Mann-Whitney U=16, p=.410).

Patient Involvement Questionnaire

Median and interquartile ranges of PIQ scores are reported in Table 4 by subscale. Overall, patients reported higher perceived engagement in the Patient Needs subscale compared to Treatment Planning subscale. The subscale scores of patients who intended to attend CR were not statistically different from those who did not, however, the scores of those who intended to attend CR were higher in both subscales.

Cardiac Rehab

Endorsement.

During interprofessional rounds physicians endorsed CR to five patients (15.6%) and the QPS was endorsed to one patient (3.1%). Three of the four physicians reported referring MI patients to CR *Often* (n=2) or *Always* (n=1), but also said they endorsed CR to their patients either *Rarely* (n=3) or *Sometimes* (n=1) (Table 5). Of the 14 patients who answered the question about endorsement on the pre-discharge questionnaire, nine (64%) reported at least some level of physician endorsement of CR (Table 7). Four of the 14 patients (28%) reported *Much* endorsement and 2 patients (14%) reported a *Great Deal* of endorsement. Of the 16 patients responding to the questionnaire, thirteen (81%) report either a nurse or physician discussed CR with them during their hospitalization with seven patients reporting both. Two other patients (13%) reported that a case manager or other individual discussed CR with them. One patient (6%) did not report anyone discussing CR with them. Physicians, followed by half of the physicians reporting lack of knowledge, perceived patient lack of motivation, and provider workload as additional barriers.

Intention to attend cardiac rehab.

Thirteen patients answered the question about intent to go to CR and 11 (85%) reported positive intention to attend after discharge. All of the patients (n=5) with observed physician endorsement expressed positive intention to attend CR, however, this was not statistically significant comparing those who ep (X^2 [1, N=13] =1.477, Exact 2-sided p =.487). This trend was also noted for patients who reported an RN discussed CR with them during their hospital stay. All the patients (n=8) who reported a positive intention to attend CR reported an RN discussed CR with them during their stay (X^2 [1, N=13] =3.782, Exact 2-sided, p=.128). Sixtythree percent (n=32) of patients had documented education from CR nurse as part of Phase 1 CR (Table 2). Of the 11 patients who expressed positive intent to go to CR and were seen by the CR nurse, 9 (82%) of these patients received education from the CR nurse during hospitalization. This finding demonstrated some relationship between CR nurse and intention to attend CR approaching statistical significance (X^2 [1, N=13] =5.318), Exact 2-sided, p=.077).

Patient and Physician Acceptance

The four physicians reported that the education session regarding CR and patient engagement was helpful, and that the QPS sometimes helped patients and families ask questions (Table 5). Two of the physicians reported that QPS increased time with patients, however responses ranged from never to always with only three physicians responding to this question. Patient questionnaire responses reported a median of 4 on a scale from 1 to 5. Patients agreed that the QPS helped them ask questions about CR and helped them think about other questions they wanted to ask about their care (Table 6).

Discussion

To this authors knowledge, this is the first study to look at the use of a QPS to promote patient engagement in an inpatient cardiac population. Patients report helpfulness of the QPS in facilitating question asking about CR and other aspects of MI care, however few questions were observed. Despite lack of statistical significance regarding patient engagement, endorsement, and intention to attend CR, positive trends highlight the potential clinical significance and role of the physician, CR nurse and clinical nurse in patient engagement and CR endorsement in AMI population.

Feasibility of Question Prompt Sheet

In evaluating the feasibility of the QPS, patients endorsed that the QPS helped them ask questions about CR and helped them think of other questions important to their care, even though few questions were observed. These positive findings associated with patient perceptions of the QPS are consistent with previous QPS literature in both cardiac (Bolman et al., 2005; Martinali et al., 2001) and non-cardiac populations (Brandes et al., 2014; Dimoska et al., 2012; Shirai et al.,2012; Yeh et al., 2014). These results suggest that providing patients tailored information and list of questions relevant to their care accompanied by verbal information from clinicians, can help patients feel engaged.

Two physicians reported that the QPS helped patients ask questions, however, 50% (*n*=4) perceived this was associated with an increase in duration of bedside rounds. The literature on during of consultation when a QPS was used has reported the majority of studies saw none to some increase in consult duration using a QPS (Dimoska et al., 2008; Henselmans et al., 2013; Kinnersley et al., 2007; Sansoni et al.,2015). However, this study did not directly measure duration of rounds and perception of length of consult is highly subject to recall bias. Another important consideration is none of the previous studies have evaluated duration of consult with QPS during inpatient rounds. Due to the small sample size and the variability in perceived impact of the QPS on duration of bedside rounds in this study, further research is needed to explore the feasibility of a QPS for inpatient encounters.

Patient Engagement

This study also found that although inpatients diagnosed with AMI who receive a QPS report relatively high levels of engagement, these scores were similar to an outpatient population who did not receive any intervention to promote patient engagement (Arnetz et al., 2010). In

spite of similar scores on the subscales, the population in Arnetz et al.'s (2010) study identified an inverse relationship between the Patient Needs subscale scores and attendance CR. The contrast findings in this area may be due to the difference between inpatient and outpatient settings as Arnetz et al. (2010) did not administer the PIQ until 6 to 10 weeks post-discharge. The small sample size of this study may also have been a factor, but, the trend of higher scores in those who intended to go to CR indicates the potential role of patient engagement to facilitate participation at CR. The irresolution of this difference is a reminder for the continued need to research the association between patient engagement and CR with experimental study designs and larger sample sizes.

Question-Asking Behavior

Despite high PIQ scores, patients only asked a median of one question during hospitalization. This is a significantly lower number than other studies where patients received a QPS, who reported an average of 5 to 18 questions per encounter (Clayton et al., 2007; Eggly et al., 2016; Galliher et al., 2010; Smets et al., 2012; van Weert et al., 2011), with the exception of one study who reported similar results (Shirai et al., 2012). Many of the potential reasons for this disparity can be conceived along the difference between inpatient and outpatient settings.

First, the brief observation window during rounds in the inpatient setting may limit the potential for patients to be observed asking questions in contrast to scheduled outpatient appointments. Although van Weert et al. (2011) evaluated the use of a QPS in the inpatient setting, the study looked at nurse/patient communication during a scheduled encounter, which is more similar to the outpatient setting. A second possibility that arises from the inpatient setting is patients have multiple providers available at different times to which they may ask questions instead of going through one clinician in the outpatient setting. And finally, as referenced in the

literature on MI education, patients' information seeking tends to peak post-discharge, which further privileges the outpatient setting for increased question asking. On the contrary, one possibility that does not arise out of the differences of inpatient and outpatient settings is the lack of physician endorsement of the QPS, where physician endorsement has been shown to increase question asking behavior in other studies (Clayton et al., 2007). Observational data from this study identified only one patient encounter where the MD endorsed the QPS during rounds. Although this may be unique to this patient's inherent level of engagement it is notable that the patient who received endorsement regarding the QPS also asked a question regarding CR and endorsed intention to attend CR. Because of the logistical challenges to observing patients' question-asking behavior in the acute care setting, measurement of patient engagement through alternative means, including validated instruments such as the Patient Involvement Questionnaire or the Patient Activation Measure, warrant further exploration and validation in the inpatient setting.

Unlike the number of questions asked, this study was consistent with previous literature (Brandes, et al., 2014; Dimoska et al., 2008; Sansoni et al., 2015; Scott & Thompson, 2003; van Weert et al., 2011) in the patient's desire to seek information about specific topic areas such as treatments and procedures. The QPS was created specific to CR but patients were more focused on the work-up of diagnosis and treatment during this acute phase of care. In order to optimize promotion of all aspects of post-MI care, including CR, a broader QPS may address a wider scope of patient information needs and further promote patient engagement.

In addition to looking at the quantity and types of questions asked, this study is the first to evaluate the timing of question-asking behavior for the inpatient MI population. Although patients will have individual preferences about how and when they want to receive information (Astin et al., 2008), this finding is consistent with information needs increasing towards discharge and may help nurses to tailor timing of patient education and provision of QPS.

Endorsement

The presence of physician and clinical nurse endorsement of CR, although not statistically significant, notably demonstrated trends in increased intention to attend CR. This trend approached significance for patients who received education from CR nurse suggesting that each of these providers has potential to influence patient engagement and intention to attend CR. The role of physician endorsement has been studied and confirmed in the literature as one of the most significant factors that can positively affect patient enrollment in CR (Ghisi et al., 2013).

Even though only five patients were observed receiving CR endorsement, 64% (*n*=14) of those who answered question about level of physician endorsement on questionnaire reported at least some level of endorsement, suggesting endorsement may be occurring outside of rounds. The low frequency of observed endorsement may also be related to the rotating nature of physicians on the acute cardiology service or perceived time constraints. Only a small sample of physicians provided feedback on endorsement practices, and feedback was limited by lack of input from physicians who specialize in cardiovascular populations, such as a fellow or attending cardiologist.

An unexpected finding of this study was the potential role of the CR nurse in encouraging CR participation, with association to intend to go to CR approaching statistical significance. A previous study reported that patients with eligible cardiac diagnoses were 3 times more likely to attend CR when advised by the CR nurse (OR 3.40 CI 95% [1.74, 6.64]) after controlling for physician endorsement and other potential confounding variables (Johnson, Inder, Nagle, and Wiggers, 2010). Although not commonly cited in the literature, this trend supports the continued

role of the CR nurse to encourage CR participation. Further evaluation of the association between CR nurse endorsement and CR participation should be undertaken.

Despite some evidence of a relationship between CR nurse and intention to attend CR, 37% of patients in this study were not seen by the CR nurse, therefore highlighting the continued importance of the clinical nurse and physician to promote patient engagement and endorse cardiac rehab. Clinical nurses have an extended opportunity to provide patient education and endorse CR in absence of or in addition to CR nurse education (Arena et al., 2012). One research study suggested that patients may perceive a lower level of CR endorsement from nurses compared to physicians, however the type of provider was not related to CR enrollment (Tsui et al., 2012). This suggests that nurses can play a role in encouraging CR participation and even lower levels of perceived endorsement may influence CR attendance.

Limitations

The results of this study should be interpreted in light of several limitations. First, the lack of control group limits the evaluation of the effectiveness of this intervention. The small sample size and low response rate to questionnaire limit external validity. Secondly, the limited time frame of observation during rounds may not be representative of the patient's question-asking behavior and engagement overall. This method was chosen to avoid recall bias with self-reported data, but the low median of questions asked suggests otherwise. Other studies have previously used video or audio recordings to accurately capture this data (Dimoska et al., 2007; Sansoni et al., 2015; van Weert et al., 2011), but the feasibility of this type of intervention is limited in the hospital setting due to semi-private rooms and frequent patient movement for diagnostics and procedures.

A third limitation of this study includes the lack of complete responses on the Patient Involvement Questionnaire subscales with only 13 patients and 14 patients who answered all questions for Treatment Planning and Patient Needs subscales respectively. This prevented valuable reliability and validity testing. Although the subscales were administered prior to discharge to more accurately reflect the patient's perception of their engagement, the incomplete responses suggest this may not be the best time. The demands and stress of an acute hospitalization may have influenced these incomplete responses. Further research is needed to best determine time to assess patient engagement during hospitalization.

A fourth limitation of this study is the method of measuring CR participation. The academic medical center where this study was conducted provides care to patients throughout the region, as well as neighboring states. Because of this widespread population, patients that seek care at this hospital have the option to attend a number of CRs across the state. Intention to attend CR was measured to preliminary assess association of engagement with intention, with future research needed to assess if intention to attend CR results in subsequent attendance. Patient's face a number of barriers to attending CR (Neubeck et al., 2011) and level of patient engagement may be one of many factors affecting an individual's decision to participate. A fifth limitation of the study design is inherent in observation of subjects. Although physician and patients were not informed of observation protocol, the possibility of the Hawthorne effect must be considered (McCambridge, Witton, & Elbourne, 2014). A final limitation of this study was the potential confounding variables on intention to attend CR. Phase 1 CR was introduced just prior to implementation of study in which a CR nurse provided education and endorsement of CR to patient prior to discharge. The presence of an additional healthcare worker providing education may have reduced the patient's likelihood to ask questions regarding CR or MI followup during interprofessional rounds. But their role may have significant implications for influencing a patient's decision to intend to go to CR. Although data was collected on patient demographics to control for confounding variables based on CR literature (Ruano-Ravina et al., 2016), the small sample size of those who participated in the questionnaire prevented meaningful analysis.

Nursing Practice Implications

Higher levels of patient engagement have demonstrated ability to decrease healthcare utilization and cost, improve adherence to treatment recommendations and improve the patient experience. Findings of this study suggest three distinct factors related to patient engagement and intention to attend CR. These three factors can be productively related to the three factors of the SCT with which this study was grounded. The environmental factor of physician endorsement has been noted in this study and confirmed in the literature. However, for specific nursing practice implications, the other two personal and behavioral factors figure prominently. Clinical nurses can enhance a patient's self-efficacy related to the personal factor by encouraging question-asking behavior through the use of a QPS. The CR nurse has the greatest potential to influence the patient's knowledge and skills related to cardiac rehab and may impact patient outcomes by influencing CR participation. As the presence of a CR nurse cannot be assumed, efforts should be made to systematically ensure patients receive education through standardized education by clinical nursing staff. Through the use of a CR-specific QPS, an opportunity exists to indirectly improve patient outcomes not only through promotion of patient engagement, but also through increased participation in CR post discharge, both of which have demonstrated decreased healthcare utilization in the literature.

Future Research

In light of the findings and limitations of this study, further research is needed to explore the relationship between patient engagement and participation in post-MI care, particularly CR participation, and the role of nurses in patient engagement and CR endorsement. Although it appears that higher levels of engagement may be seen in patients who intend to go to CR, future research is needed to determine if patients who report intention actually attend. Further research is also needed to explore the role of the clinical nurse and CR nurse in promoting patient engagement and endorsement of CR. Future research should focus on evaluating nurse-driven initiatives to promote patient engagement, such as a QPS, as well as the impact of nurse endorsement of CR on intention and actual CR participation. This study suggests a QPS is helpful to AMI patients who are hospitalized, but more robust study designs and larger sample sizes are needed to evaluate the effectiveness of this intervention in promoting engagement and tailoring questions to meet patient information needs.

Products of Scholarly Project

As a result of this study, products of this work will include publications, presentations, and potential practice changes, such as: the completion of Doctorate of Nursing Practice Scholarly Project, submission for publication in both Libra and *Patient Education and Counseling Journal*, and abstract submissions for poster presentations will be submitted to Doctors of Nursing Practice National Conference for and Cardiovascular Nursing Symposium calendar year 2019. This project will also be presented to the MI quality improvement committee and staff of the units that participated with recommendations for future practice changes including development of standardized QPS to be utilized in MI care.

Conclusion

In conclusion, a CR-specific QPS can help AMI patients ask questions and feel engaged in their care. The higher levels of patient engagement in patients who intended to participate in CR suggest that patient engagement may play a role in CR participation, but the relationship between level of engagement and CR participation requires further study. Promoting patient engagement is key part of patient-centered care with potential to improve patient outcomes. Further research should evaluate the effectiveness of a QPS in patient engagement and the role of physicians and nurses in encouraging patient engagement and CR participation.

References

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ]. (2012). *To Ask Your Doctor*. Rockville, MD. Retrieved from http://www.ahrq.gov/patients-consumers/patient-involvement/askyour-doctor/index.html
- American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation [AACVPR] (2018).

Cardiac Rehab Patient Resources. Retrived from

https://www.aacvpr.org/Resources/Resources-for-Patients/Cardiac-Rehab-Patient-Resources.

American Heart Association [AHA]. (2016). *How do I address my concerns about cardiac rehab?* Retrieved from http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/More/CardiacRehab/How-Do-I-Address-My-Concerns-About-Cardiac-

Rehab_UCM_487776_Article.jsp#.WaEcrumQzIU

- Amsterdam, E. A., Wenger, N. K., Brindis, R. G., Casey, D. E., Ganiats, T. G., Holmes, D. R., . . . Zieman, S. J. (2014). 2014 AHA/ACC guideline for the management of patients with non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndromes. *Journal of American College of Cardiology, 64* (24), e139-e-228. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.09.01.
- Anderson, L., Thompson, D. R., Oldridge, N., Zwisler, A., Rees, K., Martin, N., & Taylor, R. S. (2016). Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease. *Cochrane Database* of Systematic Reviews, (1) doi:- 10.1002/14651858.CD001800.pub3
- Arena, R., Williams, M., Forman, D. E., Cahalin, L. P., Coke, L., Myers, J., ..., (2012).
 Increasing referral and participation rates to outpatient cardiac rehabilitation: The valuable role of healthcare professionals in the inpatient and home health settings. *Circulation, 125*(10), 1321. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e318246b1e5

- Arnetz, J. E., Hoglund, A. T., Arnetz, B. B., & Winblad, U. (2008). Development and evaluation of a questionnaire for measuring patient views of involvement in myocardial infarction care. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing: Journal of the Working Group on Cardiovascular Nursing of the European Society of Cardiology, 7*(3), 229-238. doi:S1474-5151(07)00252-6 [pii]
- Arnetz, J. E., Winblad, U., Hoglund, A. T., Lindahl, B., Spangberg, K., Wallentin, L., . . . Arnetz, B.
 B. (2010). Is patient involvement during hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction associated with post-discharge treatment outcome? an exploratory study. *Health Expectations: An International Journal of Public Participation in Health Care and Health Policy, 13*(3), 298-311. doi:10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00588.x [doi]
- Astin, F., Closs,S.J., McLenachan, J., Hunter, S., and Priestley, C. The information needs of patients treated with primary angioplasty for heart attack: An exploratory study. *Patient Education* and Counseling. 73 (2), 325-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(02)00196-9
- Balady, G. J., Ades, P. A., Bittner, V. A., Franklin, B. A., Gordon, N. F., Thomas, R. J., . . . American Heart Association Science Advisory and Coordinating Committee. (2011). Referral, enrollment, and delivery of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs at clinical centers and beyond: A presidential advisory from the American Heart Association. *Circulation, 124*(25), 2951-2960. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31823b21e2 [doi]
- Bandura, A. (1986). Bandura A. Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Bertoni, A., Donato, S., Graffigna, G., Barello, S., & Parise, M. (2015). Engaged patients, engaged partnerships: Singles and partners dealing with an acute cardiac event. *Psychology, Health & Medicine, 20*(5), 505-517. doi:10.1080/13548506.2014.969746 [doi]

- Bolman, C., Brug, J., Bär, F., Martinali, J., & van den Borne, B. (2005). Long-term efficacy of a checklist to improve patient education in cardiology. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 56, 240-248. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2004.02.018
- Brandes, K., Butow, P. N., Tattersall, M. H., Clayton, J. M., Davidson, P. M., Young, J., . . .
 Walczak, A. (2014). Advanced cancer patients' and caregivers' use of a question prompt list. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 97(1), 30-37. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2014.06.010
- Clancy, C. (2008). How patient-centered healthcare can improve quality. *Patient Safety & Quality Healthcare*. Retrieved from https://www.psqu.com/marapr08/ahrq.html
- Clayton, J. M., Butow, P. N., Tattersall, M. H., Devine, R. J., Simpson, J. M., Aggarwal, G., . . . Noel, M. A. (2007). Randomized controlled trial of a prompt list to help advanced cancer patients and their caregivers to ask questions about prognosis and end-of-life care. *Journal* of Clinical Oncology, 25(6), 715-723. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=c8h&AN=10601818

1&site=ehost-live

- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS). (2010). *Cardiac rehabilitation and intensive cardiac rehabilitation*. (Medicare Benefit Policy Pub 100-02). Retrieved from https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/Downloads/bp102c15.pdf
- Decker, C., Garavalia, L., Chen, C., Buchanan, D. M., Nugent, K., Shipman, A., & Spertus, J. A. (2007). Acute myocardial infarction patients' information needs over the course of treatment and recovery. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 22(6), 459-465. doi:10.1097/01.JCN.0000297391.11324.0f [doi]

- Dimoska, A., Butow, P. N., Lynch, J., Hovey, E., Agar, M., Beale, P., & Tattersall, M. H. (2012). Implementing patient question-prompt lists into routine cancer care. *Patient Education & Counseling*, 86(2), 252-258. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2011.04.020
- Dimoska, A., Tattersall, M. H. N., Butow, P. N., Shepherd, H., & Kinnersley, P. (2008). Can a "prompt list" empower cancer patients to ask relevant questions? *Cancer*, 113(2), 225-237. doi:10.1002/cncr.23543
- Doll, J. A., Hellkamp, A., Thomas, L., Ho, P. M., Kontos, M. C., Whooley, M. A., . . . Wang, T. Y.
 (2015). Effectiveness of cardiac rehabilitation among older patients after acute myocardial infarction. *Am Heart J.*, *170* (5), 855-864. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2015.08.001.
- Dunlay, S. M., Pack, Q. R., Thomas, R. J., Killian, J. M., & Roger, V. L. (2014). Participation in cardiac rehabilitation, readmissions, and death after acute myocardial infarction. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 127(6), 538-546. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.02.008
- Eggly, S., Hamel, L. M., Foster, T. S., Albrecht, T. L., Chapman, R., Harper, F. W., . . . Penner, L. A. (2016). Randomized trial of a question prompt list to increase patient active participation during interactions with black patients and their oncologists. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *100*, 818-826. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2016.12.026
- Erskine, N. A., Gandek, B., Waring, M. E., Kinney, R. L., Lessard, D. M., Devereaux, R. S., . . .
 Goldberg, R. J. (2017). Survivors of an acute coronary syndrome with lower patient activation are more likely to experience declines in health-related quality of life. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, *33*(2), 168-178. doi:10.1097/JCN.000000000000429
 [doi]
- Galliher, J. M., Post, D. M., Weiss, B. D., Dickinson, L. M., Manning, B. K., Staton, E. W., . . . Pace, W. D. (2010). Patients' question-asking behavior during primary care visits: A report

from the AAFP national research network. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 8(2), 151-159. doi:10.1370/afm.1055 [doi]

- Ghisi, G. L., Polyzotis, P., Oh, P., Pakosh, M., & Grace, S. L. (2013). Physician factors affecting cardiac rehabilitation referral and patient enrollment: A systematic review. *Clinical Cardiology*, 36(6), 323-335. doi:10.1002/clc.22126 [doi]
- Ghisi, G. L. d. M., Abdallah, F., Grace, S. L., Thomas, S., & Oh, P. (2014). A systematic review of patient education in cardiac patients: Do they increase knowledge and promote health behavior change? *Patient Education and Counseling*, 95(2), 160-174. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2014.01.012
 - Greene, J., & Hibbard, J. H. (2012). Why does patient activation matter? an examination of the relationships between patient activation and health-related outcomes. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 27(5), 520-526. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1931-2 [doi]
 - Greene, J., Hibbard, J. H., Sacks, R., Overton, V., & Parrotta, C. D. (2015). When patient activation levels change, health outcomes and costs change, too. *Health Affairs*, 34(3), 430-437. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0452
 - Hargrave, A., Bastianens, J., Bourgeois, J.A., Neuhause, J., Josephson, S.A., Chinn, J.,
 ...Douglas, V. (2017). Validation of a nurse-based delirium screening tool for hospitalized patients. *Psychosomatics*, 58 (6), 594-603. doi: 10.1016/j.psym.2017.05.005
 - Henselmans, I., de Haes, H. C., & Smets, E. M. (2013). Enhancing patient participation in oncology consultations: A best evidence synthesis of patient-targeted interventions. *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(5), 961-977. doi:10.1002/pon.3099 [doi]

- Hibbard, J. H., Greene, J., & Overton, V. (2013). Patients with lower activation associated with higher costs; delivery systems should know their patient activation scores. *Health Affairs*, 32, 520-526. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1064
- Hibbard, J. H., Mahoney, E. R., Stock, R., & Tusler, M. (2007). Do increases in patient activation result in improved self-management behaviors? *Health Services Research*, 42(4), 1443-1463. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00669.x
- Hibbard, J. H., Stockard, J., Mahoney, E. R., & Tusler, M. (2004). Development of the patient activation measure (PAM): Conceptualizing and measuring activation in patients and consumers. *Health Services Research*, *39*(4), 1005-1026. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00269.x [doi]
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement. (2017). *Patients and family centered care initiatives*. Retrieved from

http://www.ihi.org/Engage/Initiatives/PatientFamilyCenteredCare/Pages/default.aspx

- Institute of Medicine. (2001). Crossing the quality chasm: a new health system for the 21st century. Retrieved from https://ebookcentral.proquest.com
- Johnson, N.A., Inder, K.J., Nagle, A.L., & Wiggers, J.H. (2010). Attendance at outpatient cardiac rehabilitation: is it enhanced by specialist nurse referral? *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 27(4), 31-37. Retrieved from http://www.ajan.com.au/Vol27/27-4.pdf.
- Kinnersley, P., Edwards Adrian, G. K., Hood, K., Cadbury, N., Ryan, R., Prout, H., ... Butler, C. (2007). *Interventions before consultations for helping patients address their information needs*, 3, 1-84. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004565.pub2
- Kinney, R. L., Lemon, S. C., Person, S. D., Pagoto, S. L., & Saczynski, J. S. (2015). The association between patient activation and medication adherence, hospitalization, and

emergency room utilization in patients with chronic illnesses: A systematic review. *Patient Education & Counseling*, *98*(5), 545-552. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2015.02.005

- Mampuya, W. M. (2012). Cardiac rehabilitation past, present and future: An overview. *Cardiovascular Diagnosis and Therapy*, 2(1), 38-49. doi:10.3978/j.issn.2223-3652.2012.01.02
- Martinali, J., Bolman, C., Brug, J., van den Borne, B., & Bar, F. (2001). A checklist to improve patient education in a cardiology outpatient setting. *Patient Education and Counseling, 42*, 231-238. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(00)00126-9
- Mauerer, M., Dardess, P., Carman, K.L., Frazier, K. & Smeeding, L. (2012) *Guide to patient and family engagement: environmental scan report*. (AHRQ report No. 12-0042-EF).
 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Retrieved from https://www.ahrq.gov/research/findings/final-reports/ptfamilyscan/index.html
- McCambridge, J., Witton, J., & Elbourne, D. R. (2014). Systematic review of the hawthorne effect: New concepts are needed to study research participation effects. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 67(3), 267-277. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.08.015 [doi]
- Millenson M.L., & Macri J. (2012). *Will the affordable care act move patient-centeredness center stage*? Urban Institute. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.rwjf.org/contecnt/dam/farm/reports/reports/2012/rwjf7412
- Mitchell, S. E., Gardiner, P. M., Sadikova, E., Martin, J. M., Jack, B. W., Hibbard, J. H., &
 Paasche-Orlow, M. K. (2014). Patient activation and 30-day post-discharge hospital
 utilization. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 29(2), 349-355. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2647-2 [doi]

- Mosen, D. M., Schmittdiel, J., Hibbard, J., Sobel, D., Remmers, C., & Bellows, J. (2007). Is patient activation associated with outcomes of care for adults with chronic conditions? *The Journal of Ambulatory Care Management*, 30(1), 21-29. doi:00004479-200701000-00005
- Neubeck, L., Freedman, S. B., Clark, A. M., Briffa, T., Bauman, A., & Redfern, J. (2012). Participating in cardiac rehabilitation: A systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative data. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 19(3), 494-503. doi 10.1177/1741826711409326.
- Peters, A.E. and Keeley, E.C. (2017). Patient engagement following acute myocardial infarction and its influence on outcomes. *The American Journal of Cardiology*. Advance online publication, doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.07.037.
- Ruano-Ravina, A., Pena-Gil, C., Abu-Assi, E., Raposeiras, S., van 't Hof, A., Meindersma, E., . . .
 Gonzalez-Juanatey, J. R. (2016). Participation and adherence to cardiac rehabilitation
 programs. A systematic review. *International Journal of Cardiology, 223*, 436-443.
 doi:S0167-5273(16)31829-0
- Sansoni, J. E., Grootemaat, P., & Duncan, C. (2015). Question prompt lists in health consultations: A review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 98, 1454-1464. doi: S0738-3991(15)00258-X
- Scott, J. T., & Thompson, D. R. (2003). Assessing the information needs of post-myocardial infarction patients: A systematic review. *Patient Education and Counseling 50*(2), 167-177doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(02)00126-X
- Shirai, Y., Fujimori, M., Ogawa, A., Yamada, Y., Nishiwaki, Y., Ohtsu, A., & Uchitomi, Y. (2012). Patients' perception of the usefulness of a question prompt sheet for advanced cancer

patients when deciding the initial treatment: A randomized, controlled trial. *Psycho-Oncology*, *21*(7), 706-713. doi:10.1002/pon.1955

- Simmons, L. A., Wolever, R. Q., Bechard, E. M., & Snyderman, R. (2014). Patient engagement as a risk factor in personalized health care: A systematic review of the literature on chronic disease. *Genome Medicine*, 6(2), 16. doi:10.1186/gm533
- Skolasky, R. L., Mackenzie, E. J., Wegener, S. T., & Riley, L. H.,3rd. (2008). Patient activation and adherence to physical therapy in persons undergoing spine surgery. *Spine*, 33(21), E784-91. doi:10.1097/BRS.0b013e31818027f1
- Smets, E. M., van Heijl, M., van Wijngaarden, A. K., Henselmans, I., & van Berge Henegouwen,
 M. I. (2012). Addressing patients' information needs: A first evaluation of a question prompt sheet in the pretreatment consultation for patients with esophageal cancer. *Diseases of the Esophagus : Official Journal of the International Society for Diseases of the Esophagus, 25*(6), 512-519. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2050.2011.01274.x
- Smith, S. C., Benjamin, E. J., Bonow, R. O., Braun, L. T., Creager, M. A., Franklin, B. A., . . . Taubert, K. A. (2011). AHA/ACCF secondary prevention and risk reduction therapy for patients with coronary and other atherosclerotic vascular disease: 2011 update. *Circulation, 124*(22), 2458-2473. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e318235eb4d
- Stewart, D. E., Abbey, S. E., Shnek, Z. M., Irvine, J., & Grace, S. L. (2004). Gender differences in health information needs and decisional preferences in patients recovering from an acute ischemic coronary event. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 66(1), 42-48.
- Thomas, R. J., King, M., Lui, K., Oldridge, N., Piña, I. L., & Spertus, J. (2010). AACVPR/ACCF/AHA 2010 update: Performance measures on cardiac rehabilitation for

referral to cardiac Rehabilitation/Secondary prevention services. *Circulation, 122*(13), 1342. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181f5185b

- Thygesen, K., Alpert, J. S., Jaffe, A. S., Simoons, M. L., Chaitman, B. R., & White, H. D. (2012).
 Third universal definition of myocardial infarction. *J Am Coll Cardiol, 60*(16), 1581-1598.
 doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.08.001
- Tsui, C. K., Shanmugasegaram, S., Jamnik, V., Wu, G., & Grace, S. L. (2012). Variation in patient perceptions of healthcare provider endorsement of cardiac rehabilitation. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 32(4), 192-197. doi:10.1097/HCR.0b013e318255a39d
- van Weert, J. C., Jansen, J., Spreeuwenberg, P. M., van Dulmen, S., & Bensing, J. M. (2011). Effects of communication skills training and a question prompt sheet to improve communication with older cancer patients: A randomized controlled trial. *Critical Reviews in oncology/hematology*, 80(1), 145-159. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2010.10.010 [doi]
- Witt, D., Benson, G., Campbell, S., Sillah, A., & Berra, K. (2016). Measures of patient activation and social support in a peer-led support network for women with cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 36(6), 430-437. doi:10.1097/HCR.00000000000196
- Yeh, J. C., Cheng, M. J., Chung, C. H., & Smith, T. J. (2014). Using a question prompt list as a communication aid in advanced cancer care. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 10(3), e137-41. doi:10.1200/JOP.2013.001295 [doi]

Table 1

Adapted Patient Involvement Questionnaire

Scale items and questions	Response options
Treatment planning (4 questions) <i>To what degree do you agree that the following aspects are</i> <i>important:</i> Did you take part in discussing your examinations <u>including cardiac</u> <u>catheterization, stress test or cardiac medications</u> ? Did you take part in discussing your examinations including cardiac	Yes, to a great degree (4) Yes, somewhat (3) No, not especially (2) No, not at all (1)
your doctor?	
Have doctors/nurses motivated you to take responsibility for your future health?	
Did you take part in planning your follow-up care, <u>including MI</u> <u>clinic and cardiac rehab</u> ? (e.g. what would happen after you leave the hospital?)	
Patient Needs (7 questions) To what degree do you agree that the following aspects are important: Did you have the opportunity to ask questions about your <u>heart attack</u> and cardiac rehab?	Yes, to a great degree (4) Yes, somewhat (3) No, not especially (2) No, not at all (1)
Did you understand the information you received about your <u>heart</u> <u>attack and cardiac rehab</u> ?	
Were doctors and nurses sensitive to your needs/requests; were you treated with respect?	
Did you receive the information you wanted about results of examinations or treatments such as cardiac catheterization, stress test, <u>EKG</u> , or lab results?	
Did you receive the information you wanted about your medications?	
Did you have the opportunity to ask questions about <u>cardiac rehab</u> when preparing for discharge?	

Note. Adapted from "Is Patient Involvement During Hospitalization for Acute Myocardial Infarction Associated with Post-Discharge Treatment Outcomes?" by J.E. Arnetz, U. Winblad, A.T Höglund, B. Lindahl, K. Spangberg, L. Wallentin... and B.B. Arnetz, 2010, *Health Expectations: Journal of Public Participation in Health Care and Health Policy, 13* (3) p. 301. Sections <u>underlined</u> were added to the original question with permission from author.

	Questionnaire	No			All Patients		
	Group	Questionnaire			(n=32)		
	(n=16)		Group (<i>n</i> =16)				
Characteristic	No. of	%	No. of	%	No. of	%	р
	Patients		Patients		Patients		-
Age, yrs							.939 ^a
Mdn (IQR)	67.5 (18.3)		69.5 (11.0)		68.5 (12.0)		
M(SD)					66.4 (9.0)		
LOS, days							.623
Mdn (IQR)	3.0 (1.8)		3.0 (3.8)		3.0 (2.0)		b
Gender							1.00 ^c
Male	8.0	50.0	8.0	50.0	16.0	50.0	
Female	8.0	50.0	8.0	50.0	16.0	50.0	
MI Diagnosis							.252°
NSTEMI 1	12.0	75.0	9.0	56.3	21.0	65.6	
NSTEMI 2	3.0	18.8	7.0	43.7	10.0	31.3	
NSTEMI							
Unspecified	1.0	6.2	0.0	0.0	1.0	3.1	
Phase 1 CR							1.00 ^c
Yes	10.0	62.5	10.0	62.5	28.0	62.5	
No	6.0	37.5	6.0	37.5	4.0	37.5	

Characteristics of Patients Observed (N=32)

Note: IQR= Interquartile range; LOS=Length of Stay; MI=Myocardial Infarction; NSTEMI=Non-ST elevated MI; 1 and 2 designated type of NSTEMI. CR: Cardiac Rehab. Phase 1 CR refers to CR RN coming to providing education and endorsement for CR to eligible patients in hospital prior to discharge. ^aIndependent *t*-test performed. ^bMann-Whitney *U* test performed. ^cExact Chi-square test performed.

Characteristic	No. of Patients	%
Race		
Black/AA	4	25.0
White	12	75.0
Marital Status		
Divorced	2	12.5
Married	8	50.0
Widowed	3	18.8
Unmarried/Single	3	18.8
Employment		
Employed	5	31.3
Retired	10	62.5
Unable to work	1	6.3
Education		
Grade 1-8	1	6.3
Grade 9-11	3	18.8
High School	5	31.3
Some College	4	25.0
Associate's	1	6.3
Bachelor's	1	6.3
Graduate	1	6.3
Tobacco Use		
Current	2	12.5
Former	9	56.3
Never	5	31.3
History of MI		
Yes	7	43.8
No	8	50.0
Missing	1	6.3
History of CABG		
Yes	3	18.8
No	13	81.3
History of PCI		
Yes	4	25.0
No	12	75.0

Baseline Characteristics of Survey Patients (n=16)

Note: AA= African American; MI= Myocardial Infarction; NSTEMI=Non-ST elevated MI; 1 and 2 designated type of NSTEMI. CABG=Coronary Artery Bypass Graft; PCI= Percutaneous Coronary Intervention.

Patient Involvement Questionnaire

					Intent to go to CR				
	A	All Patie	nts	Yes (n=11)	No (<i>n</i> =	=2)		
Scale	Mdn	IQR	Range	Mdn	IQR	Mdn	IQR*	Mann- Whitney U	Р
Treatment Planning **	66.7	29.0	42.0- 100.0	75	38.0	62.5		6.0	.582
Patient Needs**	90.5	20.0	67.0- 100.0	90.5	15.0	83.3		8.5	.758

Note 1: Each scale is from 0-100. Patients with higher scores for a subscale have increased perceived level of involvement in that factor. Patients were required to complete each subscale in its entirety in order to be included in final analysis. There were 13 valid scores for the Treatment planning subscale and 14 valid scores for the Patient Needs subscale

Note 2: Of the 13 patients who answered question about intent to go to CR, 2 responded that they did not intend to go, 11 responded that they did intend to go. Exact Mann-Whitney *U* tests were used to compare the two subscale scores over those two groups. Eleven patients were included in test for Treatment Planning score and 12 patients were included in Mann-Whitney U analysis for Patient Needs score. * IQR not meaningful for only n=2. ** Exact Mann-Whitney U test. Statistical significance determined by p < 0.05.

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

Table 5

Physician Questionnaire Responses (n=4)

Questions	Mdn	Range of Responses
How often do you refer patients diagnosed with AMI to cardiac rehab before discharge?	4	1-5
How often do you personally endorse cardiac rehab to AMI patients prior to discharge?	2	2-3
How often do you provide care to patient's status post AMI?	3	1-4
The patient handout and list of questions pertaining to cardiac rehab helped patients/families ask more questions. ^a	3	1-5
The provider education session and handout adequately prepared me to endorse cardiac rehab to patients diagnosed with AMI and encourage their participation in rounds.	4	4-5
The patient's list of questions increased the length of time spent with patient during interprofessional rounds. ^a	4	1-5

Note: Answers on a Likert scale from 1 to 5: 1=Never, 2=Rarely, 3=Sometimes, 4=Often, 5= Always. AMI: Acute Myocardial Infarction; ${}^{a}n=3$.

Patient Perception of QPS and Physician Endorsement (n=15)

Question	Median	Interquartile range
The list of questions about cardiac rehab helped me to ask questions about cardiac rehab. ^{a*}	4	1
The list of questions helped me think of other questions or concerns I wanted to ask. ^{a*}	4	2
Did your physician say you should go to cardiac rehab? ^{b**}	3	3

Note: QPS= Question Prompt Sheet.

^aResponses based on Likert scale from 1 to 5: 1= strongly disagree, 2=disagree, 3=undecided, 4=agree and 5=strongly agree. ^bResponses based on Likert scale: 1=Never, 2=Little, 3=Some, 4=Much, 5= Great Deal. * missing one response, n=15. ** missing two responses, n=14.


Figure 1. Flow Chart for study selection of QPS. n=Number of articles; RCT: Randomized Control Trial.



Figure 2. Social Cognitive Theory framework adapted from "Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory, by A. Bandura, 1986.

Email: From: Batman, A. Brannelly *HS Sent: Tuesday, July 18, 2017 9:42:14 AM To: Rector, Holly *HS Subject: RE: Permission to conduct DNP project on 4 East this fall Holly, You have my permission to proceed with your DNP project on 4 East during the Fall of 2017. Thanks, Brannelly A. Brannelly Batman, MSN, RN, NEA-BC Nurse Manager 4 East & Central Cardiac Monitoring Center University of Virginia Health System 434-982-0291 office 540-241-4053 cell

Figure 3. Approval to conduct Doctorate of Nursing Practice (DNP) project.

← ← → Mark as unread

Rector, Holly *HS Thu 8/24/2017 8:58 AM

Hi Brannelly,

Glad to hear everything went well with the HF survey on Monday! Heather is the best! I wanted to touch base with you about two things related to my DNP project.

1. In addition to the consent you provided me to conducted the study, I also need a second consent giving me permission to obtain access to the EMR for patient demographic information, which will include: age, gender, race, length-of-stay, level of education, income, county, zip code, history of MI, PCI or CABG, tobacco use, marital status, and employment status.



To: Rector, Holly *HS;

Flag for follow up. Start by Thursday, August 24, 2017. Due by Thursday, August 24, 2017.

Looks Great! I consent.

Brannelly

Brannelly Batman, MSN, RN, NEA-BC Nurse Manager 4 East & Central Cardiac Monitoring Center The University of Virginia Health System Office 434-982-0291 Mobile 540-241-4053

Figure 4. Institutional consent for chart review.

UVA IRB OnLine file:///U|/IRB/IRB-HSR/PREREVIEWS/EXPEDITED/12000s/12130% 2009.15.17% 20mwb/12130% 20approval% 2010.30.17.htm[10/30/2017 11:16:13 AM] **University of Virginia Institutional Review Board for Health Sciences Research HIPAA Privacy Board** IRB - HSR # 20202 Event: Approval New Protocol -Expedited Type: Protocol Sponsor(s): Sponsor Protocol #: Principal Investigator: Regina DeGennaro, RN-C, MSN, AOCN, CNL Title: Promoting Patient Engagement during Hospitalization for Acute Myocardial Infarction Assurance: Federal Wide Assurance (FWA)#: 00006183 IRB#00000447 Certification of IRB Review: The IRB-HSR/HIPAA Privacy Board abides by 21CFR50, 21CFR56, 45CFR46, 45CFR160, 45CFR164, 32CFR219 and ICH guidelines as compatible with FDA and DHHS regulations. This activity has been reviewed in accordance with these regulations. Event Date: 10/30/17 Protocol Expiration Date: 10/29/18 Number of Subjects: 84 HSR Protocol Version Date: 10/18/17 IRB Application Date: 10/26/17 Data Security Plan Date: 10/26/17 **Current Status: Open to enrollment Consent Version Dates:** Committee Members (did not vote): Comments: The IRB determined the protocol met the criteria for approval per the federal regulations and was approved. It is open to enrollment. The purpose of this study is to assess the feasibility of utilizing a cardiac rehab question prompt sheet to promote patient engagement in interprofessional bedside rounds for inpatients diagnosed with acute myocardial infarction. The study will involve observation of patients and physicians during bedside rounds, and patient and physician surveys. There is no outside sponsor for this study. N= 84 subjects Ages: greater than or equal to 18 years The following documents were submitted with this protocol: surveys for patient and physician, checklist for observations. Approved with this protocol are the following recruitment materials: verbal consent script for patients and letter to physicians. UVA IRB OnLine file:///U/IRB/IRB-HSR/PREREVIEWS/EXPEDITED/12000s/12130%2009.15.17%20mwb/12130%20approval%2010.30.17.htm[10/30/2017 11:16:13 AM] -This study has been reviewed and approved by the Graduate Medical Education Committee. No compensation.

Figure 5. IRB approval. Full approval available upon request.

Cardiac Rehabilitation for Patients Who Have Had a Heart Attack

After a heart attack (Myocardial Infarction), going to a Cardiac Rehabilitation (rehab) program is as important as taking your medicines every day.

What is cardiac rehab?

- A doctor-supervised outpatient program
- Recommended by the American College of Cardiology Foundation and American Heart Association
- Includes exercise, medicine, diet, and lifestyle education and counseling, stress management and support

• Your <u>health care team</u>, includes a physician, nurse, exercise physiologist, registered dietitian, respiratory therapist, pharmacist, and physical therapist

• *Cardiac rehab is NOT the same as home health or home physical therapy

Why should I consider going to cardiac rehab?

Research has shown patients who attend cardiac rehab have:

- Less risk of future heart attacks and death
- o Less risk for future health problems
- Fewer visits to the hospital
- Better quality of life

What are the next steps?

1. Your doctor places a referral order to cardiac rehab before discharge.

2. You receive a phone call from the cardiac rehabilitation program at University of Virginia within 7 to 10 days after discharge. If you do not hear from them, call: **(434) 243-4600.** Their address is 2955 Ivy Road, Charlottesville, VA 22908.

Many patients have questions about cardiac rehab. Below are some questions you may have. Ask your healthcare team your questions during daily rounds:

1. When can I start a cardiac rehab program? If I decide not to go right away, can I go later?

2. What happens at my first appointment?

3. When are cardiac rehab sessions offered? How many sessions do I need to go to?

4. I have too much to do at work and home to bother with cardiac rehab. How can I do it all?*

5. Does my insurance cover a cardiac rehab program?

6. What if there are no cardiac rehab programs near where I live or the closest one is too far away? Can I do an exercise program at home?

7. I don't live in Charlottesville. Is there a cardiac rehab center I can go to near my home?

8. Is exercising safe after a heart attack?

9. Do I exercise by myself or will it be in a group format?

10. Can my family come with me?

11. Can a cardiac rehab program help me quit smoking?

- 12. At my age I don't see how cardiac rehab could help. Isn't it too late for me?*
- 13. Other:_____

Figure 6. Question Prompt Script specific to cardiac rehab provided to patients and families. *From "How do I address my concerns about cardiac rehab?" by The American Heart Association, 2016 (http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/More/CardiacRehab/How-Do-I-Address-My-Concerns-About-Cardiac-

Rehab_UCM_487776_Article.jsp#.WaEcrumQzIU http://URL). Copyright [2016] by the American Heart Association. Reprinted with permission.

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

Patient Alternate Identifying Number: Room number: Date: Hospital day: Was referral to Cardiac Rehab discussed during rounds? YesNo Who initiated referral discussion? (please write in role e.g. nurse, physician)	
# of e	questions asked about cardiac rehab (note which questions below) (Tally marks)
Who asked the questions? Patient (# of questions Tally marks):Family member:	
1.	When can I start a cardiac rehab program? If I decide not to go right away, can I go later?
2.	What happens at my first appointment?
3.	When are cardiac rehab sessions offered? How many sessions do I need to go to?
4.	I don't live in Charlottesville. Is there a cardiac rehab center I can go to near my home?
5.	What if there are no cardiac rehab programs near where I live or the closest one is too far away? Can I do an exercise program at home?
6.	I have too much to do at work and home to bother with cardiac rehab. How can I do it all?
7.	Can my family come with me to cardiac rehab?
8.	Is exercising safe after a heart attack?
9.	Do I exercise by myself or will it be in a group format?
10.	Can a cardiac rehab program help me quit smoking?
11.	At my age I don't see how cardiac rehab could help. Isn't it too late for me?

12. Other:

of questions asked about Post MI care_____ including (note which categories below; circle all that apply and how many questions about each; TALLY MARKS)

mark)

- 1. Medications
- 2. Follow-up with Physicians
- 3. MI clinic
- 4. Activity/mobility
- 5. Anatomy/physiology
- 6. Treatments/Procedures (cardiac cath)
- 7. Prognosis (eg. what will happen to me in the future; future MI's?).
- 8. Diet
- 9. Cholesterol
- 10. Sexual function

Anticipated Discharge Date:

 Absent_____

 Basic (physician acknowledged QPS, and asked if they had any questions):_____

 Extended (referenced specific questions on the QPS to engage the patient):______

 Physician endorsement of Cardiac Rehab (check mark)

 Absent:

Physician endorsement of QPS: (check

Present:

Figure 7. Standardized Observation Checklist.

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

Judy Arnetz

to me 💌

Dear Holly,

🖙 Aug 18 (8 days ago) 📩 🔺

Thank you so much for your email. Your DNP project sounds very exciting and I am happy to grant you permission to use our questionnaires.

I am attaching condensed versions of both the patient and personnel surveys. Feel free to use some or all of the scales in these instruments. We also developed two additional subscales that measure staff views of the positive ("uplifts") and negative ("hassles") aspects of caring for patients who are actively involved in their care (2016 paper).

Please let me know if you have any additional questions. I would very much like to see your final proposal, if you don't mind sharing it.

Best of luck with your work!

Judy Arnetz

Judy Arnetz, PhD, MPH, PT Professor and Associate Chair for Research Dept. of Family Medicine Michigan State University

 From: holly rector [mailto:hr3rj@virginia.edu]

 Sent: Tuesday, August 22, 2017 9:59 AM

 To: Judy Arnetz

 Judy.Arnetz@hc.msu.edu

 Subject: Re: Seeking permission to use Patient Involvement Questionnaire for upcoming study

Dear Dr. Arnetz,

Thank you again for permission for both questionnaires. I wanted to double check with you on a couple items as a finish writing my proposal:

1. Do you have a preference for what these instruments are called? In my proposal I refer to them as patient involvement questionnaire and staff perception of patient involvement questionnaire. If you would like different names, please let me know. Those names are just fine

2. Would it be okay if I adapted the patient and staff questionnaires to include/modify some of the questions to be more specific to cardiac rehab? I would of course work with statistician to report validity and can send you my edits. Absolutely, that's fine.

Figure 8. Permission to use and adapt Patient Involvement Questionnaire

-

Hello, Am is speaking to (potential subject or parent's name)? If YES, then continue:

My name is ______. I am a Nurse and graduate student at the University of Virginia. The School of Nursing is doing a study about helping patients to become more engaged in their care after a heart attack. I am contacting you because you are being seen in our department because of having a heart attack. It is a goal in our department to keep our patients informed of research in which they may be interested while carefully protecting your confidentiality. To do both we follow federal regulation called HIPAA.

May I have your permission to talk to you about this new study?

- If no, say Thank you for your time.
- If yes, continue as below.

The purpose of this study is to learn more about how helpful the use of the question sheet is to patients in helping patients plan their life after having a heart attack, including learning about cardiac rehab. If you agree to participate in this study, we will ask you to take a short survey to give us feedback on the information you received during your stay regarding cardiac rehab, and how you felt about your involvement with your healthcare team during this admission. Members of our team will be happy to help you read any survey questions to you if you need assistance. The survey will take about ten minutes of your time.

Some patients may find answering questions uncomfortable which may increase anxiety. If you do not wish to answer a question, you may skip it and go to the next question.

There is no direct benefit to you as a result of taking the survey; however, information we learn about our patient education may help others in the future.

You will not be paid for participating in this study.

The only risk in taking the survey is that someone might see your answers. Your name will not be recorded on the survey.

You do not have to be in this study if you do not want to participate. Your decision to be in any study is totally voluntary. Your care at UVa will not be altered by your decision about being in this study. Your relationship with your doctor will not be affected by your decision to participate or not.

Do you have any questions?

Well let's see how good of a teacher I was – I am going to ask you a few questions about the study:

- What is the purpose of the study?
- What do you have to do to be in the study?
- What are the risks?
- What are the benefits?

Correct any answers that are not correct.

- If the potential subject is not able to answer questions accurately and if there is any question regarding subject ability to understand say: "It looks like you will not be eligible for this study. Thank you so much for your time and I hope you have a nice rest of your day.
- If the potential subject is able to answer the questions say: OK very good, here is the survey.

Figure 9. Patient consent script for documentation of consent

Dear Physician:

I am writing to you to tell you about a research study that is being done through the University of Virginia. The purpose of the study is to assess the feasibility of utilizing a cardiac rehab specific question prompt sheet (list of questions) to promote patient engagement in interprofessional bedside rounds for inpatients diagnosed with acute myocardial infarction (AMI).

You are receiving this letter because you are practicing on the Adult Cardiology Service and have not previously completed the survey for this study.

If you agree to participate, this study will involve completing the attached survey, which will take about 10 minutes of your time. The survey asks your opinion and practices regarding patient engagement with and participation in cardiac rehab. If you do not wish to answer a question, simply skip it and go to the next question.

There is only a minimal risk that someone might see your responses. To keep your survey responses confidential, do not write your name or other identifying information on the survey.

You do not have to be in this study if you do not want to participate. Your decision to be in any study is totally voluntary.

Your job will not be affected if you decide not to participate in this study.

You will not be paid for participating in this study.

If you feel you understand the study and would like to participate, please complete the attached survey and return to box labeled "surveys" in the physician work room on 4 East. Your return of the survey will indicate your consent to be in this study.

If you have questions you would like answered prior to participating, please contact:

Holly Rector, MSN, RN-BC

Telephone: (614) 949-8135

hr3rj@virginia.edu

Your survey responses will not be shared outside of this study team except to those groups inside and outside of UVa who are responsible for making sure studies are conducted correctly and ethically. If you decide to participate in this study now, but decide later to stop, you need to know that the survey responses will continue to be used. Sincerely,

Regina Degennaro, DNP, CNS, RN, AOCN, CNL

Principal Investigator

IRB/HSR # 20202

Figure 10. Documentation of consent accompanied physician questionnaire.



Figure 11. Participant flow chart and enrollment in study. QPS= Question Prompt Sheet; MI= Myocardial Infarction.



Figure 12. Topic areas of questions asked during hospitalization reported as percentages. A total of 52 questions were asked by 32 patients in in 9 out of 11 different topic areas during the study period. No questions were asked regarding sexual activity or cholesterol management therefore they are not depicted above.

Appendix

Manuscript Draft for Patient Education and Counseling Journal

Promoting Patient Engagement during Hospitalization for Acute Myocardial Infarction Holly E. Rector^a, Regina DeGennaro^a, Virginia Rovnyak^a, Beth Quatrara^a

^aUniversity of Virginia School of Nursing, Charlottesville, Virginia, USA

Corresponding Author at: University of Virginia, 225 Jeanette Lancaster Way, Charlottesville, VA, United States. Tel: +1 614 9498135. Email address: hr3rj@virginia.edu (H. Rector).

Abstract

Objective: The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between patient engagement and intention to attend CR by utilizing a CR-specific question prompt sheet (QPS) to promote patient engagement in patients hospitalized with acute myocardial infarction (AMI). **Methods:** A descriptive correlation study was conducted over eight weeks on two cardiovascular units at an academic medical center. A convenience sample of 32 (*N*) inpatient adults received QPS with education, supplemented by staff education. Primary outcome of patient engagement was measured by question-asking behavior and Patient Involvement Questionnaire (PIQ).

Results: Sixty-two percent of patients (N=32) asked questions during rounds with a median of one question. Question asking-behavior and PIQ scores were not significantly related to

intention to attend CR, however PIQ scores suggest higher levels of patient engagement in patients with positive intention.

Conclusion: Although a CR-specific QPS may be helpful and trends suggest potential to promote patient engagement, further research is needed to determine the feasibility and role of a QPS in promoting patient engagement in the AMI population.

Practice Implications: A CR-specific QPS may indirectly improve patient outcomes through promotion of patient engagement and CR participation. Nurses and physicians should encourage patient engagement in acute cardiology populations.

Keywords: patient engagement, myocardial infarction, question prompt sheet, cardiac rehab

1. Introduction

Patient engagement is a fundamental part of patient-centered care and quality improvement[1,2]. However, research is limited on effective interventions to promote patient engagement in the inpatient setting[3], particularly for patients diagnosed with acute myocardial infarction (AMI) [4]. The implications of a poorly engaged patient population may be devastating, with increasing evidence that patients with lower levels of engagement are at higher risk for increased healthcare utilization and costs compared to those who are more engaged [5– 9]. In contrast, patients with higher levels of engagement are recognized to have increased adherence to treatment regimens and health-related behaviors [10–13].

For the AMI population in particular, patient engagement may play a crucial role in encouraging adoption of secondary and tertiary prevention strategies, such as cardiac rehabilitation (CR) [14,15]. Despite CR's numerous benefits, including decreased mortality, morbidity, hospitalization, and improved health-related quality of life, [16,17] CR continues to be underutilized with current national participation rates ranging from 23% to 52% [17,18]. Promotion of patient engagement during hospitalization may play a role in improving patient outcomes in this population through increasing CR participation.

One way to promote patient engagement is to encourage patients to ask questions. Recognized as a behavior of engaged patients [3], question asking is endorsed by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality(AHRQ) [19,20]. In the outpatient setting, and in predominantly oncology populations, providing patients with a list of questions ("question prompt sheet," henceforth "QPS"), demonstrates some success in increasing patient question asking behavior [21–24], however this has not been studied in the inpatient setting or with acute cardiac populations. The use of a QPS in promoting patient engagement and CR participation in patients hospitalized with AMI should be further explored.

1.1 Purpose and Research Question

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between patient engagement and intention to attend CR by utilizing a CR-specific question prompt sheet (QPS) to promote patient engagement in patients hospitalized with acute myocardial infarction (AMI). This study aimed to answer the following questions:

- Does a CR-specific QPS help patients diagnosed with acute myocardial infarction ask questions?
- Is patient engagement related to intention to attend CR?

2. Methods

2.1 Theoretical Framework

In considering how to promote patient engagement, Bandura's social cognitive theory offers assistance [25]. This theory suggests that a behavior, such as asking questions, is affected by the dynamic relationships between personal, environmental, and behavioral factors (Figure 1). If a patient perceives they are capable of asking questions, known as self-efficacy, and have the knowledge and skills to enact that behavior, patients may be more inclined to ask questions. As this model highlights, the patient's decision to participate in a behavior does not occur in isolation, but rather is influenced by responses of the healthcare team, family, and friends. Responses to the patient's questions can either negatively or positive reinforce question-asking behavior.

2.2 Research Design and Setting

A prospective descriptive correlational study was implemented on two acute care cardiology units (58 bed) at a rural academic medical center in the southeast United States. The study was conducted prospectively over eight weeks beginning with physician education at the end of October. The acute cardiology service on these two units historically provides care to approximately 15 AMI patients per month with high month-to-month variability.

2.2.1 The Interprofessional Team

The interprofessional team that conducts daily structured bedside rounds on these two units includes an attending, fellow, and resident physicians, clinical nurse, social worker, case manager, and pharmacist. Interprofessional rounds are conducted Monday through Friday from 9:00am to 11:00am with exception of holidays and weekends. The acute cardiology service is divided into four different teams with two attendings; one heart failure and one acute cardiology. All the physicians rotate off service approximately every one to three weeks.

2.2.2 Interprofessional Rounds.

Bedside interprofessional rounds last approximately six to ten minutes per patient and are primarily focused on discussing the plan of care and discharge needs. After the interprofessional team collaborates outside the room, the team enters the patient's room and introduces themselves to the patient. The resident or intern then presents the plan of care and asks if the patient has any questions. If a patient is unavailable at the time of rounds, the team does not conduct the bedside portion of rounds.

2.3 Sample

A convenience sample included adult patients (age \geq 19 years old) hospitalized with primary or secondary diagnosis of AMI, admitted to the acute cardiology service (ACS) between October to December. Patients were determined eligible if they met the following criteria: (1) adults hospitalized with primary or secondary diagnoses of AMI, (2) admitted to the acute cardiology service from October to December, (3) English-speaking, and (4) able to read questions on QPS back to observer. Patients were excluded if they were: (1) non-English speakers, (2) altered mental status (e.g. diagnoses of dementia per chart review or positive screening for delirium with score ≥ 2 on Nursing Delirium Screening-delirium screening tool within past 48 hours [26]) or (3) were not on the ACS service. A convenience sample of physicians was also recruited to participate in study. Physicians had to be English-speaking and providing patient care on the acute cardiology service. Any physician not meeting those two criteria was excluded.

2.4 Ethical considerations

Internal Review Board (IRB) approval was obtained. During observations, patients and healthcare team were observed under IRB approved waiver of consent to prevent alteration of behavior and ensure data validity. Both patients and physicians received IRB-approved scripted consent with opportunity to participate in post-procedure questionnaire. Subjects provided documentation of consent by completing the questionnaire.

2.5 Procedures

2.5.1 Question prompt sheet

A twelve-question QPS was developed at the sixth-grade reading level based on expert opinion and review of evidence -based literature (Figure 3). Two questions from the American Heart Association patient resources on CR [27] were included with copyright permission obtained. Participants for the study were identified with assistance from charge nurses prior to morning rounds and eligibility confirmed by research team. The charge nurses received training on study protocol and patient eligibility prior to implementation. Prior to morning rounds, the researcher provided patients with the QPS and brief introduction to CR with encouragement to ask questions. The QPS was provided the first day the patient was rounded on during hospitalization.

2.5.2 Staff education

In addition to the QPS, the physicians and nurses received education regarding CR, patient engagement, and the QPS. Physician education occurred weekly for seven out of the eight weeks of the study period with a five-minute verbal presentation and handouts. Staff were encouraged to discuss CR during rounds and endorse CR to their patients. They were also encouraged to endorse the QPS and encourage patients to ask questions.

Clinical nurses also received a five-minute verbal presentation and handout. Due to the workflow on each unit, this education was provided during morning huddle or in one-on-one teaching sessions prior to and during the first two weeks of study. Nurses who were unable to attend these sessions received an emailed version of the presentation. Nurses were encouraged to identify eligible patients, discuss CR and the QPS with their patients, and encourage question asking.

2.6 Measures

Patient engagement was measured by: (1) observed number and type of questions asked by patient or family during rounds and (2) Patient Involvement Questionnaire [28]. Secondary outcomes included physician endorsement of QPS to the patient, patient and physician demographics, patient and physician perceptions of the QPS, and patient intention of attending CR. The methods of measurement included direct observation, chart review, and physician and patient self-administered questionnaires.

2.7 Data collection

2.7.1 Observations

Patient question-asking behavior and physician endorsement of QPS were measured with direct observation during interprofessional rounds. In addition to the primary researcher, three observers received training on the study protocol prior to implementation, but only one conducted observations. No simultaneous observations were conducted during study period with only one individual present to conduct observations on a given day.

To control for variability in observation practices, observations were done using a standardized checklist and paired practice observations were conducted prior to the start of the study to assess feasibility and resolve any incongruencies. Patients were observed every day during the rounding process for the entire length of stay. Physician endorsement of QPS was coded as absent, basic, or extensive, mirroring methodology incorporated into a previous study [29].

2.7.2 Questionnaires

Two subscales of the Patient Involvement Questionnaire (PIQ) were used to measure patient engagement [4,28]. This 53-question instrument was designed to assess patient perceptions of involvement during hospitalization for adults hospitalized with AMI and has previously demonstrated good validity and internal reliability in all six subscales.

Because this study focused on assessing intention to attend CR after discharge while minimizing patient burden, only the Patient Needs and Treatment Planning subscales were utilized for a total of 11 questions (reliability [Cronbach's alpha] α =0.81 and α =0.76 respectively) [4] (Table 1). The Patient Needs subscale refers to the degree to which patients' needs were fulfilled related to questions asked, understanding information, respect, and

opportunity to discuss treatments and medications [28]. The Treatment Planning subscale refers to the "patient's role in discussing examinations and treatment options, treatment goals, and participating in planning post-discharge care" [30, p. 302]. Because of the specific nature of the QPS, the subscale questions were made more specific to CR and MI care with permission from primary author.

In addition to the PIQ, patient questionnaires included a dichotomous question regarding intent to attend CR and four five-point Likert scale questions (1=Strongly disagree, 5=Strongly agree) to assess helpfulness of the QPS. These questions were developed for this study based on evidenced based literature and expert opinion [27,30–34]. Questionnaires were administered day before or day of discharge to patients who were observed. The research team was available if patients needed assistance in filling out the questionnaire. Indication of any patient utilizing the research team to facilitate completion of the questionnaire was recorded.

Physician perception of the QPS intervention and weekly education session was obtained through self-administered questionnaire. The questionnaire was developed for this study based on evidence -based literature [35] and cardiologist input. Two five-point Likert scale questions (1=Never, 5=Always) assessed perception of helpfulness of education and patient QPS with one open-ended question for feedback. Any physician on ACS was invited to complete the questionnaire at the weekly educational session once during their rotation.

Demographics of patients were collected via chart review of electronic medical records and self-reported questionnaires. Chart review included age, gender, length-of-stay, and diagnosis of MI. Demographics of race, level of education, county, history of MI, PCI or CABG, tobacco use, marital status, and employment status were collected on patients who completed questionnaire prior to discharge. Physician demographics were obtained through a self-reported questionnaire including age, gender, role, and years of experience.

2.8 Data Analysis

Data were organized and analyzed with SPSS® v.24 statistical software (Unicom). Descriptive statistics were calculated for demographic data and reported as medians and interquartile ranges for continuous variables and frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. Question-asking behavior was calculated as median and interquartile ranges of total number of questions asked during length of stay. Questions asked were further categorized by topic and reported as percentages and frequencies. The PIQ subscales of Treatment Planning and Patients Needs were computed as median and interguartile range individually. Similar to Arnetz et al. [4] the average of each subscale was converted to a score and reported on scale from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating higher perception of engagement. Patients were required to answer all questions in each subscale in order to be included in final analysis. Rates of physician endorsement of QPS and patient intention to attend CR were reported as frequencies and percentages. Differences between groups were calculated with appropriate statistics (independent t-test, exact Mann Whitney U, and exact Chi-square). For inferential analysis, an exact Mann Whitney U was computed to determine the difference in question-asking behavior of those who expressed intention to attend CR versus those who did not. This same analysis strategy was used for Treatment Planning and Patient Needs subscales scores and intention to attend CR. For patient and physician self-reported surveys, median and interquartile range were calculated for Likert scale questions. All patient and physician data were de-identified for analysis. Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05.

94

3. Results

Forty-two eligible patients were identified to participate in the study (Figure 1). Of the 42 patients who received a QPS, 10 patients became ineligible prior to observation, resulting in 32 patients for final analysis. Sixteen patients participated in post-QPS questionnaire prior to discharge and four physicians completed the provider questionnaire.

3.1 Nonparticipants vs Participants

Except for classification of MI diagnosis, no significant differences in demographics were noted between those who participated in the study and the 10 patients who became ineligible. The significance of this difference is largely due to four of the 10 patients having a non-MI diagnosis. The 25 patients excluded from the study were similar in age compared to those that were included (median age of 68 years old versus and 68.5 years old) but tended to have longer length of stay (median 5 days versus 3 days) and more severe MI diagnosis with four of the 25 (16%) excluded diagnosed with STEMI.

3.2 Demographics

Demographics of patients in the study are displayed in Table 2 and Table 3. There were no statistically significant differences in demographics for the 16 patients who took the questionnaire compared to the 16 patients who did not. Of the four physicians who completed surveys, two were interns, one was a second-year resident, and one was a third-year resident with a median of 1.6 years of experience. Median age was 29.5 years; one was female and three were male.

3.3 Question-Asking Behavior

The median of the total number of questions asked by the patients (N=32) during their hospital stay was one (IQR=2). Twelve patients did not ask any questions during rounds.

Frequency of questions asked was determined for each hospital day and for the 20 patients who asked questions, nine patients (45%) asked at least one question on hospital day two, followed by 7 patients (35%) on hospital day three. A total of 52 questions were asked during the study period with 47% of questions focused on treatment and procedures (Figure 4). Only two questions were asked about CR. Thirteen of the 16 patients who participated in the questionnaire answered the question about intent to go to CR and 11 (85%) reported positive intention to attend CR. The number of questions asked was not statistically different for patients expressing intent to attend CR versus those who said No to intent (Exact Mann-Whitney U=16, p=.410). Only one of the 32 observed patients were observed receiving endorsement of QPS by the physician.

3.4 Patient Involvement Questionnaire

Median and interquartile ranges of Patient Involvement Questionnaire scores are reported in Table 4 by subscale. Overall, patients reported higher perceived engagement in the Patient Needs subscale compared to Treatment Planning subscale. The subscale scores of patients who intended to attend CR tended to be higher in both subscales compared to those who did not, however this was not statistically significant.

3.5 Helpfulness of QPS

The four physicians agreed that the education session regarding CR adequately prepared them to engage their patients (Median of 4, range 4-5) and three physicians reported QPS sometimes helped patients and families ask questions (Median of 3, range 1-5). Three physicians responded to question about impact of QPS on time spent with patient. Physicians agreed (Median 4, range 1-5) that the QPS increased time with patient, but responses varied highly from never to always. Patient questionnaire responses on the helpfulness of the QPS reported a median score of 4 (4=Agree) on a scale from 1 to 5 suggesting that patients agreed the QPS helped them ask questions about CR and MI care.

4. Discussion and Conclusion

4.1 Discussion

To this author's knowledge, this is the first study to look at use of a QPS to promote patient engagement in an inpatient cardiac population. Patients reported the helpfulness of the QPS in facilitating question asking about CR and other aspects of MI care; however, few questions were observed. Despite lack of statistical significance regarding patient engagement and intention to attend CR, positive trends and perceived helpfulness of the intervention highlight the potential clinical significance of this study.

In evaluating the feasibility of the QPS, patients endorsed that the QPS helped them ask questions related to CR and MI care. These positive findings are consistent with previous QPS literature [36–41] and suggest that providing patients with a list of questions relevant to their care can help patients feel more engaged. Although two physicians reported that the QPS helped patients ask questions, the variable answers regarding the QPS's impact on length of rounds warrants further research. The majority of previous QPS studies that report on duration of consult cite no difference or an increase in duration with a QPS; however none of these studies evaluated the effect of a QPS on inpatient rounds [21–24].

Despite the helpfulness of the QPS, very few questions were observed as patients only asked a median of one question during hospitalization. This is a significantly lower number than other studies where patients received a QPS, who reported an average of 5 to 18 questions per encounter [29,42–45], with the exception of one study who reported similar results [40].

Potential reasons for this disparity can be considered along with the difference between inpatient and outpatient settings.

First, the brief observation window during rounds in the inpatient setting may limit potential for patients to be observed asking questions in contrast to scheduled outpatient appointments. A second possibility relating to the inpatient setting includes multiple providers available at different times to whom patients may ask questions instead of asking one clinician in the outpatient setting. And finally, some MI literature suggests that patients' information seeking tends to peak post-discharge [46,47], which further privileges the outpatient setting for increased question asking.

On the contrary, one possibility that does not arise out of the differences of inpatient and outpatient settings is the lack of physician endorsement of the QPS, where physician endorsement has been shown to increase question asking behavior in other studies [23,24,29]. Because of the logistical challenges to observing patients' questions in the acute care setting, measurement of patient engagement through alternative means, including validated instruments such as the Patient Involvement Questionnaire or the Patient Activation Measure [48], warrant further exploration and validation in the inpatient setting.

Unlike the number of questions asked, this study was consistent with previous literature in the patient's desire to seek information about specific topic areas such as treatments and procedures[21,23,36,45,49]. In order to optimize promotion of all aspects of post MI care, including CR, a broader QPS may address a wider scope of patient information needs and further promote patient engagement. Future development of a QPS should include patient focus groups to ensure patient information needs are being addressed. In addition to evaluating quantity and types of questions asked, to this author's knowledge, this is the first to assess when inpatients

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

diagnosed with AMI express information needs. Although patients will have individual preferences about how and when they want to receive information [46], this study suggests that patients are more likely to ask a question on the second or third day of their hospital stay. This information can help nurses to tailor patient education and provision of QPS.

Although not statistically significant, patients in this study who expressed intention to go to CR tended to have higher PIQ subscale scores compared to those who did not. However, these scores were similar to an outpatient population who did not received an intervention to promote engagement in Arnetz et al. [4]. In spite of similar scores, the population in Arnetz et al.'s study [4] found an inverse relationship between the Patient Needs subscale scores and attendance at CR. With only 12 patients included in the statistical analysis the small sample of this study may be one reason for this unexpected relationship. The difference between inpatient and outpatient may also be a significant factor as Arnetz et al. did not administer the PIQ until 6 to 10 weeks post-discharge. The relationship between CR and patient engagement needs further research with

The results of this study should be interpreted in light of several limitations. First, the descriptive correlational design, combined with the small sample size and low response rate limits external validity. Questionnaires were administered prior to discharge to more accurately reflect the patient's perception of their engagement, but the incomplete responses suggest this may not be the best time. The demands and stress of an acute hospitalization may have influenced these incomplete responses. Further research is needed to determine the best time to assess patient engagement during hospitalization. This low response rate also prevented valuable validity and reliability testing of the Patient Involvement Questionnaire, which is particularly needed since some aspects of the questionnaire were altered.

Secondly, the limited time frame of observation during rounds may not be representative of the patient's question-asking behavior and engagement overall. Direct observation was chosen to avoid recall bias with self-reported data and because video or audio recordings common in the QPS literature [21,23,45] were not appropriate for the inpatient setting. Future research should continue to validate instruments, such as the PIQ, in the inpatient setting to assess patient engagement.

A third limitation of this study is the method of measuring CR participation as intent is not equivalent with participation. Patient's face a number of barriers to attending CR [33] and level of patient engagement may be only one of many factors affecting an individual's decision to participate. A final inherent limitation is the potential for Hawthorne Effect on patient and physician behavior [50].

4.2 Conclusion

In conclusion, a CR-specific QPS may help AMI patients ask questions and feel engaged in their care. The higher levels of patient engagement in patients who intended to participate in CR suggest that patient engagement may play a role in CR participation, but the relationship between level of engagement and CR participation requires further study. Promoting patient engagement is a key part of patient-centered care with the potential to improve patient outcomes. Further research should evaluate the effectiveness of a QPS during hospitalization to promote patient engagement and the role of nurses and physicians in encouraging patient engagement.

4.3 Practice Implications

Through the use of a CR-specific QPS, an opportunity exists to indirectly improve patient outcomes not only through promotion of patient engagement, but also through increased participation in CR post discharge, both of which have demonstrated decreased healthcare

PROMOTING PATIENT ENGAGEMENT

utilization in the literature. Findings of this study also suggest that environmental factors cited in the social cognitive theory including nurses and physicians, can play a critical role in encouraging patients to ask questions. Clinical nurses in particular can enhance a patient's self-efficacy related to the personal factor by encouraging question-asking behavior through the use of a QPS. By influencing a patient's knowledge and skills related to CR, the healthcare team may impact patient outcomes by influencing CR participation.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank patient education services, the MI quality and safety committee, and the cardiac rehab staff for their content expertise and aid in the development of patient materials and questionnaires. Our sincerest thanks to the patients and staff on the cardiovascular units who participated and showed their support. Finally, thank you Dr. John Dent and Dr. Kathryn Ward for your mentorship as my content experts during the entire project.

References

- Institute of Medicine, Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century, National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 2001. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK222265/.
- [2] Institute for Healthcare Improvement, Person- and Family-Centered Care Initiatives, (n.d.).

http://www.ihi.org/Engage/Initiatives/PatientFamilyCenteredCare/Pages/default.aspx (accessed June 22, 2017).

- [3] M. Maurer, P. Dardess, K. Carman, K. Frazier, L. Smeeding, Guide to Patient and Family Engagement: Environmental Scan Report. | AHRQ Patient Safety Network, Rockville, MD, 2012. https://psnet.ahrq.gov/resources/resource/24664/guide-to-patient-and-familyengagement-environmental-scan-report (accessed June 20, 2017).
- [4] J.E. Arnetz, U. Winblad, A.T. Hoglund, B. Lindahl, K. Spangberg, L. Wallentin, Y. Wang,
 J. Ager, B.B. Arnetz, Is patient involvement during hospitalization for acute myocardial infarction associated with post-discharge treatment outcome? An exploratory study, Health Expect. 13 (2010) 298–311. doi:10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00588.x [doi].
- [5] R.L. Kinney, S.C. Lemon, S.D. Person, S.L. Pagoto, J.S. Saczynski, The association

between patient activation and medication adherence, hospitalization, and emergency room utilization in patients with chronic illnesses: a systematic review, Patient Educ. Couns. 98 (2015) 545–552. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2015.02.005.

- [6] J. Greene, J.H. Hibbard, R. Sacks, V. Overton, C.D. Parrotta, When Patient Activation
 Levels Change, Health Outcomes And Costs Change, Too, Health Aff. 34 (2015) 430–437.
 doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0452.
- J.H. Hibbard, J. Greene, V. Overton, Patients With Lower Activation Associated With Higher Costs; Delivery Systems Should Know Their Patients' "Scores," Health Aff. 32 (2013). doi:doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1064.
- [8] A.E. Peters, E.C. Keeley, Patient Engagement Following Acute Myocardial Infarction and Its Influence on Outcomes, Am. J. Cardiol. 120 (2017) 1467–1471. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.07.037.
- S.E. Mitchell, P.M. Gardiner, E. Sadikova, J.M. Martin, B.W. Jack, J.H. Hibbard, M.K.
 Paasche-Orlow, Patient activation and 30-day post-discharge hospital utilization, J. Gen.
 Intern. Med. 29 (2014) 349–355. doi:10.1007/s11606-013-2647-2 [doi].
- [10] J. Greene, J.H. Hibbard, Why does patient activation matter? An examination of the relationships between patient activation and health-related outcomes, J. Gen. Intern. Med. 27 (2012) 520–526. doi:10.1007/s11606-011-1931-2 [doi].
- J.H. Hibbard, E.R. Mahoney, R. Stock, M. Tusler, Do Increases in Patient Activation Result in Improved Self-Management Behaviors?, Health Serv. Res. 42 (2007) 1443– 1463. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00669.x.
- [12] D.M. Mosen, J. Schmittdiel, J. Hibbard, D. Sobel, C. Remmers, J. Bellows, Is patient activation associated with outcomes of care for adults with chronic conditions?, J. Ambul.

Care Manage. 30 (2007) 21–29. doi:00004479-200701000-00005 [pii].

- [13] R.L. Skolasky, E.J. Mackenzie, S.T. Wegener, L.H. Riley 3rd, Patient activation and adherence to physical therapy in persons undergoing spine surgery, Spine (Phila. Pa. 1976). 33 (2008) E784-91. doi:10.1097/BRS.0b013e31818027f1 [doi].
- [14] S.C. Smith, E.J. Benjamin, R.O. Bonow, L.T. Braun, M.A. Creager, B.A. Franklin, R.J. Gibbons, S.M. Grundy, L.F. Hiratzka, D.W. Jones, D.M. Lloyd-Jones, M. Minissian, L. Mosca, E.D. Peterson, R.L. Sacco, J. Spertus, J.H. Stein, K.A. Taubert, AHA/ACCF Secondary Prevention and Risk Reduction Therapy for Patients With Coronary and Other Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease: 2011 Update: A Guideline From the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology Foundation, Circulation. 124 (2011) 2458–2473. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e318235eb4d.
- [15] G.J. Balady, P.A. Ades, V.A. Bittner, B.A. Franklin, N.F. Gordon, R.J. Thomas, G.F. Tomaselli, C.W. Yancy, Referral, enrollment, and delivery of cardiac rehabilitation/secondary prevention programs at clinical centers and beyond: A presidential advisory from the american heart association, Circulation. 124 (2011) 2951–2960. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31823b21e2.
- [16] L. Anderson, N. Oldridge, D.R. Thompson, A.D. Zwisler, K. Rees, N. Martin, R.S. Taylor, Exercise-Based Cardiac Rehabilitation for Coronary Heart Disease Cochrane Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 67 (2016) 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.10.044.
- [17] S.M. Dunlay, Q.R. Pack, R.J. Thomas, J.M. Killian, V.L. Roger, Participation in cardiac rehabilitation, readmissions, and death after acute myocardial infarction., Am J Med. 127 (2014) 538–546. doi:doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2014.02.008.

- J.A. Doll, A. Hellkamp, L. Thomas, P.M. Ho, M.C. Kontos, M.A. Whooley, T.F. Boyden,
 E.D. Peterson, T.Y. Wang, Effectiveness of cardiac rehabilitation among older patients after acute myocardial infarction, Am. Heart J. 170 (2015) 855–864.
 doi:10.1016/j.ahj.2015.08.001.
- [19] C.M. Clancy, AHRQ: How Patient-Centered Healthcare Can Improve Quality, (2008).
 https://www.psqh.com/marapr08/ahrq.html (accessed July 15, 2017).
- [20] (AHRQ) Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Questions to Ask Your Doctor,
 (2012). http://www.ahrq.gov/patients-consumers/patient-involvement/ask-yourdoctor/index.html (accessed July 15, 2017).
- [21] A. Dimoska, M.H.N. Tattersall, P.N. Butow, H. Shepherd, P. Kinnersley, Can a "prompt list" empower cancer patients to ask relevant questions?, Cancer. 113 (2008) 225–237. doi:10.1002/cncr.23543.
- P. Kinnersley, G.K. Edwards Adrian, K. Hood, N. Cadbury, R. Ryan, H. Prout, D. Owen,
 F. MacBeth, P. Butow, C. Butler, Interventions before consultations for helping patients address their information needs, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2007.
 doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004565.pub2.
- [23] J.E. Sansoni, P. Grootemaat, C. Duncan, Question Prompt Lists in health consultations: A review, Patient Educ. Couns. (2015). doi:S0738-3991(15)00258-X [pii].
- [24] I. Henselmans, H.C. de Haes, E.M. Smets, Enhancing patient participation in oncology consultations: a best evidence synthesis of patient-targeted interventions, Psychooncology. 22 (2013) 961–977. doi:10.1002/pon.3099 [doi].
- [25] A. Bandura, A Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1986.

- [26] A. Hargrave, J. Bastiaens, J.A. Bourgeois, J. Neuhaus, S.A. Josephson, J. Chinn, M. Lee,
 J. Leung, V. Douglas, Validation of a Nurse-Based Delirium-Screening Tool for
 Hospitalized Patients., Psychosomatics. 58 (2017) 594–603.
 doi:10.1016/j.psym.2017.05.005.
- [27] American Heart Association, How Do I Address My Concerns About Cardiac Rehab?, (2016). http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/More/CardiacRehab/How-Do-I-Address-My-Concerns-About-Cardiac-Rehab_UCM_487776_Article.jsp#.WtzXspch3IU (accessed July 15, 2017).
- [28] J.E. Arnetz, A.T. Hoglund, B.B. Arnetz, U. Winblad, Development and evaluation of a questionnaire for measuring patient views of involvement in myocardial infarction care, Eur. J. Cardiovasc. Nurs. 7 (2008) 229–238. doi:S1474-5151(07)00252-6 [pii].
- [29] J.M. Clayton, P.N. Butow, M.H. Tattersall, R.J. Devine, J.M. Simpson, G. Aggarwal, K.J. Clark, D.C. Currow, L.M. Elliott, J. Lacey, P.G. Lee, M.A. Noel, Randomized controlled trial of a prompt list to help advanced cancer patients and their caregivers to ask questions about prognosis and end-of-life care, J. Clin. Oncol. 25 (2007) 715–723. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip&db=c8h&AN=106018 181&site=ehost-live.
- [30] R.J. Thomas, M. King, K. Lui, N. Oldridge, I.L. Pina, J. Spertus, J. Spertus, AACVPR/ACCF/AHA 2010 Update: Performance Measures on Cardiac Rehabilitation for Referral to Cardiac Rehabilitation/Secondary Prevention Services: A Report of the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation and the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Performance Measures (Writing Committee to Develop Clinical Performance Measures

for Cardiac Rehabilitation), Circulation. 122 (2010) 1342–1350. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181f5185b.

- [31] S.C. Smith, E.J. Benjamin, R.O. Bonow, L.T. Braun, M.A. Creager, B.A. Franklin, R.J. Gibbons, S.M. Grundy, L.F. Hiratzka, D.W. Jones, D.M. Lloyd-Jones, M. Minissian, L. Mosca, E.D. Peterson, R.L. Sacco, J. Spertus, J.H. Stein, K.A. Taubert, AHA/ACCF secondary prevention and risk reduction therapy for patients with coronary and other atherosclerotic vascular disease: 2011 update: A guideline from the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology Foundation, Circulation. 124 (2011) 2458–2473. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e318235eb4d.
- [32] Centers for Medicare and Medicaid, Medicare Benefit Policy Manual Chapter 15 Covered Medical and Other Health Services, 2014. https://www.cms.gov/Regulationsand-Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/bp102c15.pdf (accessed July 15, 2017).
- [33] L. Neubeck, S. Ben Freedman, A.M. Clark, T. Briffa, A. Bauman, J. Redfern, Participating in cardiac rehabilitation: A systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative data, Eur.
 J. Prev. Cardiol. 19 (2012) 494–503. doi:10.1177/1741826711409326.
- [34] American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation, Cardiac Rehab Patient Resources, (2018). https://www.aacvpr.org/Resources/Resources-for-Patients/Cardiac-Rehab-Patient-Resources (accessed July 15, 2017).
- [35] G.L. Ghisi, P. Polyzotis, P. Oh, M. Pakosh, S.L. Grace, Physician factors affecting cardiac rehabilitation referral and patient enrollment: a systematic review, Clin. Cardiol. 36 (2013) 323–335. doi:10.1002/clc.22126 [doi].
- [36] K. Brandes, P.N. Butow, M.H. Tattersall, J.M. Clayton, P.M. Davidson, J. Young, R.M.Epstein, A. Walczak, Advanced cancer patients' and caregivers' use of a Question Prompt

List, Patient Educ. Couns. 97 (2014) 30-37. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2014.06.010 [doi].

- [37] C. Bolman, J. Brug, F. Bär, J. Martinali, B. van den Borne, Long-term efficacy of a checklist to improve patient education in cardiology, Patient Educ. Couns. 56 (2005) 240–248. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2004.02.018.
- [38] A. Dimoska, P.N. Butow, J. Lynch, E. Hovey, M. Agar, P. Beale, M.H.N. Tattersall,
 Implementing patient question-prompt lists into routine cancer care., Patient Educ. Couns.
 86 (2012) 252–8. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2011.04.020.
- [39] J. Martinali, C. Bolman, J. Brug, B. van den Borne, F. Bar, A checklist to improve patient education in a cardiology outpatient setting., Patient Educ. Couns. 42 (2001) 231–8. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11164322.
- Y. Shirai, M. Fujimori, A. Ogawa, Y. Yamada, Y. Nishiwaki, A. Ohtsu, Y. Uchitomi, Patients' perception of the usefulness of a question prompt sheet for advanced cancer patients when deciding the initial treatment: a randomized, controlled trial, Psychooncology. 21 (2012) 706–713. doi:10.1002/pon.1955 [doi].
- [41] J.C. Yeh, M.J. Cheng, C.H. Chung, T.J. Smith, Using a Question Prompt List As a Communication Aid in Advanced Cancer Care, J. Oncol. Pract. 10 (2014) e137–e141. doi:10.1200/JOP.2013.001295.
- [42] S. Eggly, L.M. Hamel, T.S. Foster, T.L. Albrecht, R. Chapman, F.W. Harper, H. Thompson, J.J. Griggs, R. Gonzalez, L. Berry-Bobovski, R. Tkatch, M. Simon, A. Shields, S. Gadgeel, R. Loutfi, H. Ali, I. Wollner, L.A. Penner, Randomized trial of a question prompt list to increase patient active participation during interactions with black patients and their oncologists, Patient Educ. Couns. 2 (2016). doi:10.1016/j.pec.2016.12.026.
- [43] J.M. Galliher, D.M. Post, B.D. Weiss, L.M. Dickinson, B.K. Manning, E.W. Staton, J.B.
Brown, J.M. Hickner, A.J. Bonham, B.L. Ryan, W.D. Pace, Patients' question-asking behavior during primary care visits: a report from the AAFP National Research Network, Ann. Fam. Med. 8 (2010) 151–159. doi:10.1370/afm.1055 [doi].

- [44] E.M. Smets, M. van Heijl, A.K. van Wijngaarden, I. Henselmans, M.I. van Berge Henegouwen, Addressing patients' information needs: a first evaluation of a question prompt sheet in the pretreatment consultation for patients with esophageal cancer, Dis. Esophagus Off. J. Int. Soc. Dis. Esophagus. 25 (2012) 512–519. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2050.2011.01274.x [doi].
- [45] J.C. van Weert, J. Jansen, P.M. Spreeuwenberg, S. van Dulmen, J.M. Bensing, Effects of communication skills training and a Question Prompt Sheet to improve communication with older cancer patients: a randomized controlled trial, Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 80 (2011) 145–159. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2010.10.010 [doi].
- [46] F. Astin, S.J. Closs, J. McLenachan, S. Hunter, C. Priestley, The information needs of patients treated with primary angioplasty for heart attack: An exploratory study, Patient Educ. Couns. 73 (2008) 325–332. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2008.06.013.
- [47] C. Decker, L. Garavalia, C. Chen, D.M. Buchanan, K. Nugent, A. Shipman, J.A. Spertus, Acute Myocardial Infarction Patients' Information Needs Over the Course of Treatment and Recovery, J. Cardiovasc. Nurs. 22 (2007) 459–465. doi:10.1097/01.JCN.0000297391.11324.0f.
- [48] J.H. Hibbard, J. Stockard, E.R. Mahoney, M. Tusler, Development of the Patient Activation Measure (PAM): conceptualizing and measuring activation in patients and consumers., Health Serv. Res. 39 (2004) 1005–26. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2004.00269.x.
- [49] J.T. Scott, D.R. Thompson, Assessing the information needs of post-myocardial infarction

patients: a systematic review, Patient Educ. Couns. 50 (2003) 167-177.

doi:10.1016/S0738-3991(02)00126-X.

[50] J. McCambridge, J. Witton, D.R. Elbourne, Systematic review of the Hawthorne effect: new concepts are needed to study research participation effects., J. Clin. Epidemiol. 67 (2014) 267–77. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.08.015.

Tables

Table 1

Adapted Patient Involvement Questionnaire

Scale items and questions	Response options
Treatment planning (4 questions) To what degree do you agree that the following aspects are important: Did you take part in discussing your examinations/treatments including cardiac catheterization, stress test or cardiac medications? Did you discuss the goals of your treatment after a heart attack with your doctor? Have doctors/nurses motivated you to take responsibility for your future health? Did you take part in planning your follow-up care, including MI clinic and cardiac rehab, i.e. what would happen after you leave the hospital?	Yes, to a great degree (4) Yes, somewhat (3) No, not especially (2) No, not at all (1)
Patient Needs (7 questions) To what degree do you agree that the following aspects are important: Did you have the opportunity to ask questions about your condition/illness heart attack and cardiac rehab? Did you understand the information you received about your heart attack and cardiac rehab? Were doctors and nurses sensitive to your needs/requests? Were you treated with respect? Did you receive the information you wanted about results of examinations or treatments such as cardiac catheterization, stress test, EKG, or lab results? Did you receive the information you wanted about your medications? Did you have the opportunity to ask questions about cardiac rehab when you were being discharged when preparing for discharge?	Yes, to a great degree (4) Yes, somewhat (3) No, not especially (2) No, not at all (1)

Note. Response options organized into a 4-point Likert scale with 1= No, not at all to 4= Yes, to a great degree. Adapted from "Is Patient Involvement During Hospitalization for Acute Myocardial Infarction Associated with Post-Discharge Treatment Outcomes?" by J.E. Arnetz, U. Winblad, A.T Höglund, B. Lindahl, K. Spangberg, L. Wallentin... and B.B. Arnetz, 2010, *Health Expectations: Journal of Public Participation in Health Care and Health Policy*, *13* (3) p. 301. Sections underlined were added to the original question and sections crossed out were removed. Alterations were done with author permission.

Table 2

	Questionnaire		No		All Patients		
	Group	Questionnaire			(n=32)		
	(n=16)		Group (<i>n</i> =16)				
Characteristic	No. of	%	No. of	%	No. of	%	р
	Patients		Patients		Patients		-
Age, yrs							.939 ^a
Mdn (IQR)	67.5 (18.3)		69.5 (11.0)		68.5 (12.0)		
M(SD)					66.4 (9.0)		
LOS, days							.623 ^b
Mdn (IQR)	3.0 (1.8)		3.0 (3.8)		3.0 (2.0)		
Gender							1.00 ^c
Male	8.0	50.0	8.0	50.0	16.0	50.0	
Female	8.0	50.0	8.0	50.0	16.0	50.0	
MI Diagnosis							.252°
NSTEMI 1	12.0	75.0	9.0	56.3	21.0	65.6	
NSTEMI 2	3.0	18.8	7.0	43.7	10.0	31.3	
NSTEMI							
	1.0	6.2	0.0	0.0	1.0	3.1	
Unspecified							1.00 ^c
Phase 1 CR	10.0	62.5	10.0	62.5	28.0	62.5	
Yes	6.0	37.5	6.0	37.5	4.0	37.5	
No							

Characteristics of Patients Observed (N=32)

Note: IQR= Interquartile range; LOS=Length of Stay; MI=Myocardial Infarction; NSTEMI=Non-ST elevated MI; 1 and 2 designated type of NSTEMI. CR: Cardiac Rehab. Phase 1 CR refers to CR RN coming to providing education and endorsement for CR to eligible patients in hospital prior to discharge. ^aIndependent *t*-test performed. ^bMann-Whitney *U* test performed. ^cExact Chi-square test performed.

Table 3

Characteristic	No. of Patients	%
Race		
Black/AA	4	25.0
White	12	75.0
Marital Status		
Divorced	2	12.5
Married	8	50.0
Widowed	3	18.8
Unmarried/Single	3	18.8
Employment		
Employed	5	31.3
Retired	10	62.5
Unable to work	1	6.3
Education		
Grade 1-8	1	6.3
Grade 9-11	3	18.8
High School	5	31.3
Some College	4	25.0
Associate's	1	6.3
Bachelor's	1	6.3
Graduate	1	6.3
Tobacco Use		
Current	2	12.5
Former	9	56.3
Never	5	31.3
History of MI		
Yes	7	43.8
No	8	50.0
Missing	1	6.3
History of CABG		
Yes	3	18.8
No	13	81.3
History of PCI		
Yes	4	25.0
No	12	75.0

Baseline Characteristics of Survey Patients (n=16)

Note: AA= African American; MI= Myocardial Infarction; NSTEMI=Non-ST elevated MI; 1 and 2 designated type of NSTEMI. CABG=Coronary Artery Bypass Graft; PCI= Percutaneous Coronary Intervention.

Table 4

Patient Involvement Questionnaire

				Intent to go to CR					
	All Patients		Yes (n=11)		No (n=2)				
Scale	Mdn	IQR	Range	Mdn	IQR	Mdn	IQR*	Mann- Whitney U	Р
Treatment Planning **	66.7	29.0	42.0- 100.0	75	38.0	62.5		6.0	.582
Patient Needs**	90.5	20.0	67.0- 100.0	90.5	15.0	83.3		8.5	.758

Note 1: Each scale is from 0-100. Patients with higher scores for a subscale have increased perceived level of involvement in that factor. Patients were required to complete each subscale in its entirety in order to have a valid subscale score. There were 13 valid scores for the Treatment planning subscale and 14 valid scores for the Patient Needs subscale

Note 2: Of the 13 patients who answered question about intent to go to CR, 2 responded that they did not intend to go, 11 responded that they did intend to go. Exact Mann-Whitney *U* tests were used to compare the two subscale scores over those two groups. Twelve patients were included in test for Treatment Planning score and 12 patients were included in Mann-Whitney U analysis for Patient Needs score. * IQR not meaningful for only n=3. ** Exact Mann-Whitney U test. Statistical significance determined by p < 0.05.



Figures

Figure 1. Social Cognitive Theory framework adapted from "Social Foundations of Thought and Action: A Social Cognitive Theory, by A. Bandura, 1986.



Figure 2. Participant flow chart and enrollment in study. QPS= Question Prompt Sheet; MI= Myocardial Infarction.

1. When can I start a cardiac rehab program? If I decide not to go right away, can I go later?

2. What happens at my first appointment?

3. When are cardiac rehab sessions offered? How many sessions do I need to go to?

4. I have too much to do at work and home to bother with cardiac rehab. How can I do it all?*

5. Does my insurance cover a cardiac rehab program?

6. What if there are no cardiac rehab programs near where I live or the closest one is too far away? Can I do an exercise program at home?

7. I don't live in Charlottesville. Is there a cardiac rehab center I can go to near my home?

- 8. Is exercising safe after a heart attack?
- 9. Do I exercise by myself or will it be in a group format?
- 10. Can my family come with me?
- 11. Can a cardiac rehab program help me quit smoking?
- 12. At my age I don't see how cardiac rehab could help. Isn't it too late for me?*

Figure 3. Figure 6. Question Prompt Script specific to cardiac rehab provided to patients and families. *From "How do I address my concerns about cardiac rehab?" by The American Heart Association, 2016

(http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/More/CardiacRehab/How-Do-I-Address-My-Concerns-About-Cardiac-Rehab_UCM_487776_Article.jsp#.WaEcrumQzIU http://URL). Copyright [2016] by the American Heart Association. Reprinted with permission.



Figure 4. Topic areas of questions asked during hospitalization reported as percentages. A total of 52 questions were asked by 32 patients in 9 out of 11 different topic areas during the study period. No questions were asked regarding sexual activity or cholesterol management therefore they are not depicted above.